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Message from the Mayor  

I am very pleased to present the Annual Report for 2019 

on behalf of the Council for the City of Dawson Creek. 

We continue to move forward on our mantra of building 

a community with a great quality of life with a focus on 

health, education and economic opportunities.  

 

Following the announcement from the Provincial 

Government in 2018 to proceed with the planning and 

business case for a new state of the art acute care 

centre for the Dawson Creek and District Hospital, 

Council awaits the final decision to proceed with the 

new hospital. Supporting Northern Health with 

physician recruitment for our region has provided a very 

strong foundation of primary care physicians in our City 

who provide an amazing service to the residents of 

Dawson Creek and those who live within the Region. We 

have been supporting a scholarship program through 

the Peace River Regional District for health care workers 

in our region, including RN’s and Home Support 

Workers. The future of our community is dependant on 

attracting and retaining health care professionals to 

build a solid foundation of services for our region. 

 

The South Peace Health Services Society is moving 

forward with the renovation of a patient 

accommodation home in the City for regional residents 

travelling to Dawson Creek for acute care, maternity 

and oncology services. This is another example of our 

City working in collaboration with our neighbouring 

communities, both indigenous and non-indigenous. 

 

We were very pleased to host the 2019 World Junior A 

Hockey Challenge in December at the Encana Events 

Centre. This was another event in the five-year 

agreement with Hockey Canada for our City to host a 

major event each year.  

 Continued…  

Mayor Dale Bumstead 

Mayor Dale Bumstead 
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We hosted Russia, Czechoslovakia, USA and two 

Canadian teams for this annual International Hockey 

Canada event. This tournament allowed our organizing 

committee to move exhibition games into our 

neighbouring communities of Chetwynd, Saulteau and 

West Moberly First Nation between Team Canada and 

Team USA.   

 
Team Russia spent three days in Tumbler Ridge for their 

pre-tournament training camp, and Team 

Czechoslovakia played in Grande Prairie. Broadening 

the exposure of this opportunity to our neighbours 

continues to engage and build upon the strategy of 

Event and Sport Tourism for our City. 

 

The City’s annual events comprised of our five-day 

Rodeo and Exhibition where we host the World 

Professional Chuck Wagons. The Mile Zero Cruisers 

Annual Car show saw over 500 collector vehicles in our 

City in July.  To name a few of the world-class talents to 

visit our City and perform at the Encana Event Centre 

were Old Dominion, Rascal Flats, Judas Priest and 

Johnny Reid.  

 

We are building on a strong fiscal future as our main 

strategic objective, while ensuring we continue to build 

and maintain the City’s infrastructure. We have built a 

significant water supply and distribution asset for the 

future development of our City. We have amazing arts 

and culture facilities, including two arenas, a curling 

rink, a library and an arts centre, to name a few. 

 

All of this is to provide our residents with an amazing 

quality of life with a strong and diverse economic 

foundation, creating solid business and career 

opportunities for those looking to raise their family in a 

healthy community. 

 
 

Dale Bumstead 
Mayor  

 
 

New Harvest 
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Mayor and Council 

Mayor and Council were elected in the 2018 Local Government 

Election for a 4-year term to provide leadership and establish 

policies and priorities for the community.    

Council meets two times per month except for July, August and 

September when they meet only once per month.  The second 

meeting of every month is a scheduled Committee of the Whole 

where General Managers and Department Heads share 

department highlights with Council and the public.  All meetings 

are held on a Monday starting at 9:00 am in Council Chambers at 

City Hall. 

 

Front: Councillor Paul Gevatkoff, Councillor Shaely Wilbur, 

                 Councillor Amy Kaempf, Councillor Charlie Parslow    

Back:  Councillor Blair Lekstrom, Mayor Dale Bumstead,  

 Councillor Jerimy Earl   

Did You Know? 

Council has six types of meetings that 

the Mayor chairs: 

Regular Council 

Regular Council with 

Committee of the Whole 

Closed Council 

Public Hearings 

Public Consultations 

Budget Meetings 
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2019 Council Meeting Schedule 

* Committee of the Whole 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Did You Know? 

City Council Meetings are open for 

the public to attend. Council 

welcomes interested residents to 

come and take in a meeting and see 

how your municipal  

government works.  

If you are unable to attend in person, 

you can watch meetings online at 

dawsoncreek.ca/video 

 

 

January  14 Regular Meeting 

  17 Special Meeting 

  28 Regular Meeting* 

February 11 Regular Meeting 

  25 Regular Meeting* 

March  11 Regular Meeting 

  20 Special Meeting 

  25 Regular Meeting* 

April  8 Regular Meeting 

  29 Regular Meeting* 

May  13 Regular Meeting 

  27 Regular Meeting* 

June  10 Regular Meeting 

  10 Public Hearing 

  20 Special Meeting 

  24 Regular Meeting* 

July  22 Regular Meeting 

 

August  12 Regular Meeting 

  27 Special Meeting 

September 9 Regular Meeting 

October 1 Special Meeting 

7 Regular Meeting 

  21 Regular Meeting* 

November 4 Regular Meeting 

  15 Special Meeting 

  25 Regular Meeting* 

December 16 Regular Meeting* 
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Message from the Chief Administrative Officer 

The Chief Administrative Officer for the City of Dawson Creek serves Council directly and acts as the 
primary liaison between staff, the Mayor’s Office and City Council. The City of Dawson Creek Annual 
Report contains a summary of the departmental highlights which have taken place during a busy and 
productive 2019. While we continue to provide core services to our citizens, the management team 
and staff continue to undertake a number of initiatives and services identified in Council’s Strategic 
Priorities.  

 
The year began with Council’s intention to better utilize revenue received from the Peace River 
Agreement by working towards building a strong financial future through implementing a strong 
capital program.  To achieve this goal, Council identified four key priorities for additional staff research 
that were: working with the Peace River Regional District to identify opportunities for increased Sub-
Regional Recreation and Cultural Services Funding; exploring new tourism opportunities for funding 
alternatives and operational efficiencies; investigating a more sustainable and feasible transit model, 
and exploring opportunities for increased revenue and cost savings within the Fire Department. Strong 
financial management is essential to efficient, effective services, and 2019 marked the beginning 
towards pursuing initiatives and strategies that focus on building a strong, sustainable financial future 
for the community. 
 
In 2019, staff continued to increase economic development opportunities through unique 
partnerships. In June, the City welcomed WASCO as the new operator for the Dawson Creek Airport, 
and in the fall, the World Junior A Hockey Championship marked the beginning of the City’s five-year 
agreement with Hockey Canada. With the continued shift to an event tourism model proving 
successful, 2019 had many event highlights such as hosting a preseason WHL game between the 
Edmonton Oil Kings and Prince George Cougars and PBR Professional Bull Riding, and also, once again, 
successfully hosting the world with the World Junior A Hockey Championship. As plans continue to 
move forward with focusing on an event tourism model, the community can anticipate seeing 
increased benefits from more exciting and diverse events in the future. 
 
As the Chief Administrative Officer for the City of Dawson Creek, I am confident that the 2019 Annual 
Report is a reflection of the innovation, commitment, and dedication of Council and staff to further 
promote why Dawson Creek is truly the Capital of the Peace. 

 
Duncan Redfearn 
Chief Administrative Officer  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Marlana Blouin  
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Strategic Priorities 

 

“It is the intent of the City of Dawson Creek Council to move the Peace River Agreement 

revenue currently used for the Operations of the City back into the Capital program. As Council 

moves forward, it is the aspiration that a minimum of 85% of the Peace River Agreement 

revenue received be used for Capital investment with the remaining portion used for 

Operations towards debt servicing. The goal is to achieve this over the next seven years.”  

May 13, 2019 

 
In an effort to achieve this target and timeline, Council has identified the following four key priorities 

for additional staff research and Council consideration as part of the 2020 budget: 

 

 

  

1. Sub-Regional Recreation and Cultural 
Services Funding  

  Work with the Peace River Regional 
District to identify opportunities for 
increased Sub-Regional Recreation 
and Cultural Services Funding 
utilizing the existing Letters Patent 
and Supplementary Letters Patent.  

 
 

2.  Tourism  

• Explore opportunities for funding 
alternatives and operational 
efficiencies.  

 
 

3. Transit  

 Investigate the feasibility of a 
minimum cost savings of 50% 
($350,000) through an alternate 
model of scheduled or on call transit 
service.  

 
 

4. Fire Department 

 Explore opportunities for increased 
revenue and cost savings.  
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Vision, Mission & Guiding Principles 

Community Vision Statement 

Dawson Creek will be a visionary community that works together for innovative social, cultural, economic 

and environmental vitality. 

Corporate Mission Statement 

The Corporate Mission of the City of Dawson Creek is to provide excellence in service and leadership that 

promotes a dynamic community within a healthy environment for all generations. 

 

Peace Photographics 
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Guiding Principles 

  

Trust and Integrity 

We will have a reputation for acting with 

integrity and will earn the trust of our 

stakeholders by: 

 Keeping promises. 

 Pledging to align our actions with the 

guiding principles that support our 

vision. 

 Modeling competence and anchoring 

behaviour on enduring values. 

 Communicating with care and respect. 

 Working to develop positive 

relationships. 

 Sharing information in timely and 

comprehensive ways. 

Inclusivity 

We will create an invitational climate by: 

 Ensuring all individuals have equal 

access to services and opportunities for 

success. 

 Seeking ways to reflect and celebrate 

the diversity of our community and 

ensuring physical accessibility. 

 Engaging people in issues that directly 

affect them. 

 Maintaining and strengthening our 

links to the First Nations, Aboriginal 

and Metis populations. 

 Making literacy concerns a core 

component of communication 

strategies. 

Creativity 

We will foster a culture of creativity, innovation, and 

learning by: 

 Encouraging cooperative and collaborative 

thinking. 

 Employing open dialogue and wide input into 

decision making and planning. 

 Supporting risk taking and challenging 

conventional practices. 

 Including learning opportunities in all actions. 

Health 

We will optimize opportunities for healthy living by: 

 Developing an environment free from undue 

risk. 

 Providing opportunities to enhance physical, 

emotional, and spiritual well-being. 

 Enhancing the cleanliness and aesthetic 

appearance of our community. 

 Promoting physical activity. 

Governance 

We will strive to make decisions that reflect the needs 

and desires of our community by: 

 Providing opportunities for engaged, active 

citizens to help create and participate in 

developing solutions for pressing issues. 

 Encouraging a wide range of agencies and 

citizens to take a meaningful role in decision-

making.  
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Brenna Schilds 

Guiding Principles (continued) 

  Modern Economy 

We will strengthen the community’s economic 

vitality by: 

 Establishing a climate that encourages 

responsible economic development. 

 Honouring small and big business 

partnerships and contributions. 

 Focusing on and promoting the 

opportunities for economic development 

that are inherent in our community and 

region. 

 Encouraging projects that serve the local 

community and enhance regional self-

sufficiency in areas such as power, general 

supply, and food. 

Lifestyle 

We will nurture engagement in a collective sense of 

belonging and contribution by: 

 Celebrating arts, heritage and culture. 

 Creating recreational opportunities. 

 Providing opportunities for life-long learning. 

 Optimizing transportation and movement 

around the city. 

 Working to reduce crime rates and 

opportunities for crime in our community. 

 

Excellence 

We will achieve excellence in all our  

endeavours by: 

 Incorporating principles of excellence 

in all our actions. 

 Developing shared goals to serve the 

long-term interests of the community. 

 Establishing appropriate measures of 

success and being accountable for the 

level of achievement of shared goals. 

 

 

 

 

The Environment 

We will demonstrate respect for the future of 

the earth by: 

 Fostering recycling, reuse and reduced 

consumption. 

 Promoting, demonstrating and using 

renewable energy. 

 Advocating for the preservation of 

clean air, clean water and healthy land. 
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Quick Facts 

Population  

Dawson Creek is home to 12,178 people (2016 census), which is an increase of 5.1% over 2011 census 

numbers. 

Climate 

The Peace Lowland ecoregion is 

characterized by a unique climate, 

marked by warmer summers than the 

surrounding areas. The mean annual 

temperature is 0.5°C. The mean summer 

temperature is 15°C and the mean 

winter temperature is -14°C. The mean 

annual precipitation ranges from 350–

600 mm. 

Transportation 

Airport 
 

Just seven minutes from downtown, Dawson Creek’s 

modern airport facilities keep the city and surrounding area 

connected to the world. Central Mountain Air provides 

scheduled flights to Vancouver via Prince George. Charter 

services are also available through several airlines. 

The comfortable, up-to-date terminal provides secure 

and easy access for arriving and departing aircraft. It 

features free Wi-Fi, free parking, no improvement or user 

fees, and a cafe.  

Dawson Creek Regional Airport offers a 5,000-foot 

runway, flight planning, competitive fuel rates, under 

wing camping, hangar and a modern fully operational 

pilots’ lounge without charging general aviation fees.  

Bailey Helicopters, Medevac Services, Civil Air Search and 

Rescue Association, freight services, and corporate 

aircrafts also make use of the Dawson Creek Regional 

Airport. In addition, the Dawson Creek Flying Club offers 

flight training for the adventurous at heart.  
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Highways 

Dawson Creek is centrally located in the Peace Region and is served by several highways, most of which 

meet at the traffic circle at Mile Zero of the Alaska Highway. The iconic metal surveyor statue points west 

down the Alaska Highway (97 North) that leads north to Fort St John, Fort Nelson, and Watson Lake. 

Highway 49 travels east to Spirit River and Fahler, Alberta. Highway 97 South (John Hart Highway) travels 

west to Chetwynd and then south to Prince George. Highway 2 travels southeast to the Alberta border 

where it connects to Highway 43 to Grande Prairie, AB. The Heritage Highway 52 joins Tumbler Ridge to 

Highway 97 South, west of Dawson Creek. 

Road Transportation  

The City of Dawson Creek operates a municipal transit service through BC Transit. The “drop-floor” 

buses provide easy access for seniors and the physically disabled. 

Railways  

Dawson Creek is connected by CN Rail to Fort Nelson and to the ports of Prince Rupert and Vancouver for 

freight service.  

 

 

 

 

Photo credit Channel Collective 
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Municipal Services & Operations 

The City’s direction is guided by the Dawson Creek Official Community Plan (OCP) adopted in April 2018, 

which is a statement of objectives and policies to guide decisions on planning and land use management 

within the area covered by the plan.  While the OCP sets the vision for the Community, it is the Financial 

Plan that establishes annual priorities.  The first draft of the new OCP Bylaw No. 4373, was created with 

the comments and feedback that the community provided. 

The City provides a wide range of municipal services to local residents and businesses, including fire 

protection/suppression, emergency management, policing, building inspection, bylaw compliance, 

transit, engineering and public works, refuse collection, planning and development, economic 

development, subsidized recreation programs, sports fields, indoor and outdoor walking paths, a 

swimming pool, arenas, a curling rink, airport and water and sewer utility services. The City is focused on 

maintaining and providing a good quality of life for our citizens while building a strong financial future. 
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Organizational Chart  
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Corporate Administration 

The Department of Corporate Administration is responsible for preparation and preservation of the 

minutes, bylaws and other City records. It ensures that all City actions such as Council proceedings, 

elections and land development are conducted in accordance with government legislation. The 

department is also responsible for community economic development and communication. 

 

2019  Goals 

 File Management 

o The Consultant visited Dawson Creek in September, and met with representatives from all 
departments to review the Draft Records Classification & Retention Schedule.  

o The Records Classification & Retention Schedule, Records Manual and all forms are all now in 
final draft stages and Staff has been exploring records management software options. 

 

 Agreement Templates 

o The lease agreement template that was created for City facilities was used successfully with 

the new lease with the Dawson Creek Exhibition Association.  This new template will continue 

to be used, and any amendments that are necessary due to the differences in the uses or 

types of facilities will be accommodated within a separate schedule in the agreement.  Staff 

will continue to work through the various City agreements to develop a revised template for 

each agreement type. 

 

 Policy Review 

o All City policies were reviewed and Council identified nine for further review and/or revision 

or repeal.   Pending completion of the remaining 6 policy directions, the Policy Manual will 

continue to meet the current needs of the community and align with the governance model 

of Council.  New policies are created as and when required to ensure continuity of Council 

direction. 

 

 Efficiency Review 

o Administration duties were reviewed and reassigned in order to streamline processes and use 

staff time as efficiently as possible.  This resulted in services levels not being impacted as a 

result of the reduced Administration budget. 

  



 
 

2019 Annual Report  

 

17 

 

2020 Goals  

Records Management 

 A new classification system and retention system will be implemented within the Administration 
Department, and will be used with other City department conversions in the future. Admin Staff 
will work with the Records Analyst to commence the conversion of the Administration 
Departments files over to the new File Management Program.  This new system will make the 
best use of the current available space. 

 
By-Election 

 As a result of the resignation of Councillor Lekstrom, Administration will hold a by-election in 2020 
to fill the vacant Councillor seat.   
o Best efforts will be made to reduce costs while still meeting all legislated timelines, advertising 

and other requirements. 
o Communication efforts will be enhanced with a view to increase voter turnout. 
o The newly elected Councillor will be well prepared for their term, following the completion of 

an orientation session completed prior to their inaugural meeting. 
 
Chamberlain Park Encroachments 

 With the assistance of a land agent, the encroachments along Chamberlain Park will either be 
removed or included within a portion of land purchased by the neighbouring property owner.  
Offers to purchase will require landowners to share in the City’s costs that have been incurred to 
date in relation to the Chamberlain Park encroachments. 

 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Training 

 Staff will be trained to recognize how the Act applies to their jobs and understand how to comply 
with it; know what to do if they receive a request for information; Comprehend the Privacy Impact 
Assessment (PIA) process; and know how to protect information.   
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Finance 

The Finance Department focuses on five areas to manage the financial transactions for the City: 

1. Financial Planning (budgeting, financial control systems, risk and debt management). 

2. Financial Reporting (completing legislated and monthly reporting to Council and other 

stakeholders). 

3. Financial Processing (receiving money owed to the City and paying the City’s bills). 

4. Stakeholder Management (working with Council, citizens, staff, suppliers and partners). 

5. Reception (Managing customer service inquiries). 

The department's goal is to provide accurate and timely information for informed decision-making and to 

manage the City’s day-to-day financial business with integrity and efficiency. 

2019 Goals 

 Meet Council’s direction to begin the budget process in July each year. Management received 

budget instructions early in July. The assumption report was presented to Council on October 7th, 

and First Draft discussion began on December 16th, 2019. 

 The Tangible Capital Assets program is now linked to the Accounts Payable invoice, which will to 

eliminate any double entries between the Accounts Payable Clerk and the Tangible Capital Assets 

Clerk.  

 Continue with cross-training within the department to allow for more coverage of key positions.  

Late in 2019, three key positions in the Finance Department changed staff.  Cross-training 

continues to be an ongoing process and will involve the new hired employees in the cross-training 

program. 

 

2020 Goals  

 Implement finance budgeting tool–Questica. 

 Implement Asset Management Plan and Asset Retirement Obligation (ARO) Plan. 

 Continue with cross-training within the department to allow for more coverage of key positions. 
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Infrastructure & Development Services  

The Development Services Division enforces the City’s regulatory framework for new building 

construction and land development and plans, and manages the capital projects that relate to the division. 

The Department contains the following divisions:  

 

Engineering 
The Engineering Division provides information to customers regarding construction records, maps, and 

digital base files. The division manages and coordinates roadworks capital projects, provides estimates 

and technical planning services for capital planning, and carries out quality assurance measures on 

processes, procedures, and activities. 

 

GIS  
The GIS Division ensures that all data is current and spatially correct to produce the most up‐to date 

products for our clients in a timely manner. The division produces quality mapping and keeps track of new 

assets.  

 

Building 
The Building Division works with the public to attain compliance with City building bylaws and the BC 

Building Code, and strives to provide a high level of customer service. The division continues to keep up 

to date with technology in construction and building materials. 

 

Bylaw Enforcement 
The Bylaw Division responds to issues on a complaint basis and handles each issue as quickly and in as fair 

a manner as possible to gain compliance. Issues vary from summer to winter and include snow removal, 

parking, and garbage/recycling.  

 

Planning 
The Planning Division provides procedural advice to developers and processes various applications 

including development permits, zoning amendments, and subdivisions. Long range planning includes 

larger projects such as the Official Community Plan and the Flood Mitigation Plan. 

 

Roads and Grounds 
The Roads and Grounds Division provides efficient and effective maintenance of all above ground 

infrastructure, such as roads, parking lots, street lights, and drainage ditches. The department performs 

regular maintenance programs and responds to numerous weather related events each year.  
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Capital Projects 
The Capital Projects Division prepares estimates, plans, surveys, designs and tenders; and administers 

contracts, inspects (quality assurance), and records all capital projects. The 2019 Capital Project goals have 

been incorporated into the previously-mentioned departments within the Infrastructure and 

Development Services sections. 

 

Utilities 
The Utilities Division is tasked with the maintenance of the City’s underground infrastructure, which 

includes carrying out preventive maintenance programs and responsive repairs. The City’s underground 

infrastructure can be broken into three systems; water, sanitary, and storm.  

Water and Wastewater  
The Water and Wastewater Division focuses on managing source water, water treatment and wastewater 

collection.  The department ensures the City compiles with all Provincial and Federal government 

regulations and the Operators, certified through the Environmental Operators Certification Program 

(EOCP), manage the City’s water and sewer related infrastructure and assets. 

Watershed Stewardship 
The Watershed Stewardship division monitors the Dawson Creek Watershed and the Kiskatinaw 

Watershed, the latter of which is the sole source of water for the City of Dawson Creek.  Strong priorities 

in the department include Flood Mitigation in the urban watershed and support for the organization in 

understanding environmental risks and corners 

 

 

  

Trail Reservoir Repaired 
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2019 Goals  

 Implement Phase 1 of the Flood Mitigation Planning Report Recommendations.  

 Complete the Zoning Bylaw review and the Development Permit Guidelines review and update.  

 Update the Subdivision Servicing Bylaw.  

 Review and update the Development Procedures Bylaw and the Land Use Procedures Bylaw.  

 Update building department procedures and the building department web pages.  

 Purchase two new loaders to replace aged-out equipment.   

 Completion of Public Works Addition – new offices, lunchroom and washrooms. 

 Review yard waste pickup and compost functions.   

 Review and revise the manhole assessment/inspection program. 

 Develop standard operating procedures for work in cemeteries. 

 Increase Urban resiliency to flooding events by collecting hydrometric data, increasing emergency 

center training for staff, performing cross-sectional surveys on the creek and updating LiDAR and 

creating a model of the Creek to see how it changes over time and how flooding has impacted 

certain areas. 

 Develop and organizational approach to source water protection, water security, emergency 

management, and water conservation in the Kiskatinaw River Watershed and Dawson Creek 

Watershed. 

 Develop a Kiskatinaw Watershed Advisory Committee to gain information from stakeholders 

 Fully implement a Maintenance Management System to maintain responsible accountability of 

City assets. 

 Begin tracking efforts to be able to provide metrics for department performance measurement  

 

2019 Goal Progress 

o Amendments have been made to 

the OCP to include 

recommendations from the Flood 

Hazard Assessment Report. 

o Completed public consultation, 

nearing adoption of new Zoning 

Bylaw. 

o Building department procedures 

and application forms were 

updated and will be posted on the webpage in 2020. 

o Performed full assessments of many critical water and sewer infrastructure assets such as the 

Raw Water Transmission Main, Zone 2 Transmission and the City’s six owned lift stations. 

o Purchased two new loaders. 

o Completed Public Works Addition. 

  

Kevin Henderson 
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2019 Highlights 

 Completed at-grade rail crossing safety assessments for each of the six crossings in the City. 

 Increased recycling bylaw compliance efforts towards households receiving violation notices. 

 Cemetery Bylaw updated to introduce new lawn beams and grave cover regulations. 

 Upgraded 92nd Avenue from 17th to 19th Street, and 112th Avenue from 8th to 13th Street with new 

road structure and upgraded utilities and streetlights.  

 Installed new sidewalk on 10th Street from 90th to 92nd Avenue and 13A Street from 113th to 115th 

Avenue, and 102nd Avenue from 15th Street to 12A Street. 

 Firearms Bylaw update completed. 

 Animal Control Bylaw update completed. 

 Reached City Snow Fall policy requirements while utilizing city crew and equipment without hiring 

contacted equipment. 

 Received new columbarium at the City Cemetery. 

 Reconstructed 92nd Avenue from. 

 Awarded a grant from the National Disaster Mitigation Fund to update the City’s Flood Mapping. 

 Developed conceptual design drawings of Bearhole Lake’s fish ladder modifications and dam 

safety improvements. 

 Made enhancements to the City Compost Program resulting in greater efficiency and increased 

usable compost. 

 Gained a better understanding of climate projections and assessed the City’s vulnerabilities 

through work with the North East Climate Risk Network. 

 Completed repairs on the Trail Reservoir which repaired deficiencies and extended the life of the 

reservoir, reducing maintenance demands on staff. 

 Completed implementing a Preventative Maintenance Management System to improve 

management of all City water and sewer assets. 

 Replaced the Granular Activated Carbon (GAC) media in the Water Treatment Plant’s two GAC 

media filter banks. 

  

92nd Ave Paving 10th Street Sidewalk 13A Street Sidewalks 
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2020 Goals  

Building 

 Introduce the local building community to the proposed building energy performance standards 

in the 2022 BC Building Code amendment. 

 

Bylaw 

 City Bylaw Enforcement software system implemented for recording complaints, warnings and 

tickets. 

 Increase compliance with curbside recycling regulations. 

 
Engineering 

 Upgrade the Geographic Information Service web server to a secure http site and add the new 

zoning and proposed flood mapping information. 

 

Planning 

 Adopt the new zoning bylaw and development permit guidelines. 

 

 Incorporate the new floodplain mapping into the Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw.  

Develop new floodplain regulations. 

Utilities 

 Replace 25 water main valves. Repair or replace outdated sanitary sewer mains. Add manhole 

assessment/inspection program to flushing program. 

 

Roads & Grounds 

 Purchase mini excavator for use in cemeteries and asphalt hot box to increase efficiency in 

patching program. Succession planning for retiring manager and vacant utilities/public works 

manager. 

 

Capital Projects 

 Reconstruct 15th Street from 105th to 94th Ave. Sanitary Sewer improvement on 107th Avenue from 

10th to 9th Street and Sanitary Sewer addition on 10th Street from 110th to 112th Avenue. 

 

Water, Wastewater & Watershed  

 Complete the Flood Mapping Project and develop a Flood Mitigation Action Plan that includes 

structural and non-structural solutions towards community based resiliency.  

 Complete Bearhole Lake Fish Ladder Modifications and dam safety improvements. 

 Install a snow sensor and precipitation gauge at the Water Treatment Plant grounds. 

 Upgrade the City’s water and sewer control network, radios network, and SCADA system. 

 Assessments of City water reservoirs and lagoons systems for future planning and capital 

improvement. 
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Community Services 

The Community Services Department goal is to ensure our recreation services and facilities support the 

personal wellbeing and improve the quality of life for our citizens. The Department does this through a 

wide spectrum of resources ranging from parks and facilities, recreation activities, safety, and fire 

protection. We continue to coordinate, implement, and evaluate our programs, constantly improving 

wherever possible.   

 

Community Services consists of the following divisions: 

 

Recreation 

 Recreation programs and events 

 Facility and sports field  bookings 

 

Parks & Facilities 

 Maintain green space 

 Horticulture 

 Maintain all civic facilities 

 Manage all capital programs 

 

Sustainability & Energy 

 Implement sustainability goals set out in the City’s   

Official Community Plan 

 Foster the transition towards a dynamic community and a healthy environment 

 Sustainability events and projects 

 

Safety 

 Provide a healthy and safe work environment  

 

Fire 

 The City’s fulltime fire department provides prevention, education and inspections. 

 

 

 

Park n’ Play Community Event 
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Recreation 

The Recreation Department supports healthy lifestyle choices for Dawson Creek citizens by promoting 

active living through recreation opportunities (both outdoor and indoor), physical literacy, and the 

reduction of barriers that may otherwise prevent citizens from accessing City sponsored recreation 

programs.  

 

The department liaises with community and provincial partners to offer special events and programs 

throughout the year including Park ‘n Play, Annual Family Day Free Swim and Climb, Community Clean 

Up, EveryBODY Active, Christmas Tree Light Up, Free Yoga, Open Family Gym, Volleyball Leagues, Summer 

Sports Camps, and a variety of drop-in programs. Events and programs are scheduled at City facilities, 

including the Memorial and Kin Arenas, the Kenn Borek Aquatic Centre, the indoor Climbing Wall, the 

Wayne & Bev Dahlen Walking Track and a variety of sports fields and school gymnasiums. 

 

In 2019, our very active local sport and community groups utilized City facilities as follows:  

 

 878.75 Sports field Rental Hours 

 3061.09 Ice Rental Hours 

 1490.19 Meeting Room Rental Hours (All Facilities) 

 888.50 Pool Rental Hours 

 145 Recreation Programs and Events, with over 9,000 Participants 

 

2019 Goals  

 Identify and implement a marketing plan to increase usage of programs and facilities, in addition 

to increasing awareness of our presence in the community. 

o First phase of marketing plan was implemented in 2019.   

o Pool Facebook page is changed to be City of Dawson Creek. 

o Increased advertising on three additional websites. 

o Resurrected Leisure Guide for three seasons. 

o New subscription to graphic design program. 

o Studio Lite Digital Advertising Program now in four facilities. 

o New contract with Bell Media. 
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 Increased sponsorship, grants, partnership within the department to remove barriers for citizens 

of Dawson Creek 

o Leisure Access Policy Successes 

 Individual/family requests–Funding for recreation was provided through the City budget 

for 67 individuals experiencing low economic status. 

 Strategy 1c–129 ‘reduced fee events’ were held including special events, drop-in 

programs, equipment rentals, and registered programs. 

 Increased inclusion, diversity, access, and equity awareness to improve program delivery and 

awareness with staff and community. 

o Hosted Inclusion Workshop with 17 individuals in attendance. 

o Trained a staff member to host High 5 Training in our community and region. 

 

2019 Highlights  

 Seventy-two City staff attended customer service training. Three workshops were held: The 

Guest, The Difficult Guest, and The Guest/Difficult Guest Combo. 

 Implemented the Lifeguard Apprentice Program. Sixty-six percent of the participants were hired 

for Lifeguard positions. 

 Partnered with SD#59 to provide an After School Sports and Arts Initiative. This began in 

September at a local school, and has had 256 total youth attendees.  

 Free swimming was offered for youth, families, and seniors during the summer of 2019 at the 

Kenn Borek Aquatic Centre, with over 20,171 participants.  

 

2020 Goals  

 Implement phase two of the marketing plan to increase usage of programs and facilities, in 

addition to increasing awareness of our presence in the community.    

 Develop a process to measure engagement versus USE tool for recreational activities. 

 Develop a succession and retention plan for aquatic staff. 

 Identify missing populations not attending our recreation and aquatic programs and develop 

engagement strategies to increase participation. 
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Parks and Facilities 

The Parks and Facilities Department is responsible for promoting, planning, and delivering services in the 

City’s green spaces and civic properties that support personal wellbeing and quality of life.  

 

The City’s Parks Staff is responsible for the aesthetics, functionality and maintenance of 28.8 acres of 

sports fields, 31 parks (120 acres), 13 playgrounds, tennis courts, senior’s fitness park, skate park, 6.56 km 

of walking trails, 6.2 acres of highway right-of-ways, as well as cemeteries and more. Parks staff are also 

responsible for the overall cleanliness of the City by conducting spring cleanup, which includes the 

sweeping of gravel from all boulevards and ongoing garbage removal duties throughout all public areas. 

  

Facilities staff are responsible for general care and maintenance of all civic buildings and the overall 

operation of all City facilities that are not leased by external or private organizations. In total, there are 

74 facilities, ranging from pump stations outside of the City boundaries to local buildings including arenas, 

City Hall, the RCMP Detachment and the Fire Hall. Responsibilities include the overall interior and exterior 

cleanliness and structural integrity of the buildings as well as the operation of mechanical equipment to 

ensure proper air quality, heating and cooling, electrical and plumbing.  

 

2019 Goals  

 Implement 2019 Parks budget reduction strategies and explore new efficiencies within the 

department.  

o Reduced the number of flower gardens in the city. 

o Reduced grass cutting in the parks and sports fields and worked with users and City 

departments to optimize cuts as events occurred. 

 Implement a new maintenance management software program for the arenas, Parks and 

Facilities, and the pool.  

o FIXX is the new management software program in service citywide.  This program works to 

keep us on track with daily, monthly, and yearly preventive maintenance, as well as 

generates work orders to keep staff on track.  The program also generates reports, helping 

with yearly budget and capital planning.    

 Continue building audits/assessments on the highest priority buildings.  

o This continues to be a priority; in January 2020, assessments were completed on the NAR 

park buildings and three buildings at the Airport.   

 Hire a new Parks and Facilities Manager.  

o Longtime employee with the City of Dawson Cree, Melina Sweezey, was hired as the Parks 

and Facilities manager.   
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 Complete capital plan projects including Fire Hall improvements, purchase of a thermal imaging 

camera, replace Art Gallery flooring, and facility upgrades at the Kenn Borek Aquatic Centre.  

o Capital plan projects were completed at the Aquatic and the Encana Event Centre on time 

and within budget.   

 

2019 Highlights  

 Construction was completed on a new open structure for the exhibition grounds that can be 

used for both private and public hospitality functions.   

 Collaborated with Dawson Creek Minor Ball to assist with ball diamond maintenance allowing 

use of specific ball diamonds.   

 A new facilities clerk was hired to help the Parks and Facilities and Safety departments to run 

more efficiently.   

 

2020 Goals  

 Complete retrofit at the Art Gallery. 

 Continue building audits/assessments on the highest priority buildings. 

 Capital plan projects will include upgrades to the Calvin Kruk Centre for the Arts, both arenas, 

the curling rink, and the pool.   

 Continue with the strategic plan to improve the Park’s department efficiencies to operate within 

Council’s goals.   

 

 

 
 

  

Exhibition Grounds New Structure 
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Health and Safety 

The City of Dawson Creek is committed to providing a healthy and safe work environment for all 

employees.   

 

The Health and Safety department continues to focus on achieving the WorkSafeBC Certificate of 

Recognition (COR). The strategy is to continue strengthening the use and involvement of the Internal 

Responsibility System (IRS).  The IRS philosophy is based on the principle that every individual in the 

workplace is responsible for health and safety. To this end, the department is seeking effective 

collaboration with the workplace Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committees, managers, 

supervisors, and workers to improve every element of the City’s Safety Management System. 

 

2019 Goals  

 Implement and sustain an Internal Responsibility System Framework (IRS) with City staff that are 

primarily responsible for the development, maintenance and continuous improvement of the 

occupational health and safety program. 

o The City’s safety subcommittees were re-structured into five workplace committees and a 

central committee. Terms of Reference were developed and signed by the CAO. 

o Members of the Joint Health and Safety Committees (JOHSC) were trained in their functions 

and responsibilities through the British Columbia Municipal Safety Association (BCMSA).  

o The JOHSC recorded increased participation in conducting workplace inspections, and in 

reviewing incident investigation reports for the implementation of appropriate corrective 

actions.  

o The Central JOHSC contributed to development and implementation of the new Incident 

Report and Investigation process and forms.  

 Continue to utilize the Health and Safety Management System to make safety an integral part of 

the City’s core operations (e.g. Strat Planning, Policies, Procedures, Training and Education). 

o Utilizing the Safety Management System In the past year, workers and management were 

offered the following health and safety-related training: 

 Traffic Control Planning and Layout  

 Work Site Inspections 

 Incident /Accident Investigation 

 Hazard Identification and Risk Assessments 

 Safety Committee Member Responsibility 

 Contractor Safety Management  

 Asbestos, Lead, Mould and Silica Awareness  
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 Continue to work towards obtaining the Certificate of Recognition (COR) awarded by WorkSafeBC 

to organizations whose safety programs meet industry safety standards and all also exceed current 

legal requirements. 

o Staff conducted a BCMSA guided Internal Health and Safety Audit of the Public Works 

department. This audit counts towards the BCMSA certified Internal Auditor designation for 

City staff and towards the City’s preparation for the Certificate of Recognition (COR) Audit. 

 

2019 Highlights  

 Safety department participated and/or organized the following activities: Pink Shirt Day, Annual 

Day of Mourning, Audiometric Testing, and a Flu Shot Vaccination Clinic.  

 The City earned a 23.6% experience rating (ER) discount from WorkSafeBC based on its claims and 

payroll history. The discount reduced the net premium rate from $1.78 to $1.67 of the City of 

Dawson Creek’s assessable payroll. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 Goals  

 Continue to improve the various components of the City’s Safety Management System with the 

full collaboration of the Internal Responsibility System (IRS). 

 Review and update current health and safety policies. 

 Complete the revision and roll out of the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) manual. 

 Safety Department with the JOHSC will complete the annual review of OHS programs. 

 Continue to work towards obtaining the COR, awarded by WorkSafeBC. 

 

  

Safety Audit Safety Training 
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Fire Department  

The Fire Department provides a number of services to the City including prevention, education, and 

 in-service inspections of City businesses including those required for the issuance of new business 

licenses.  The Fire Department is also responsible for providing in-service training.   

The Fire Department liaises with the Fire Commissioner’s office when necessary.  The Department is also 

responsible for the issuance of burn permits for burning activities within the City, monitoring many fire 

alarms and security alarms throughout the City, and responding to emergency dispatches from other fire 

departments within the adjacent proximity of the City. 

2019 Goals  

 The use of the training facility will be increased.  

o The Emergency Services Training Centre conducted an instructor certification course to 

become accredited with the Justice Institute of British Columbia as a sanctioned Live Fire 

Certification Site. 

o The Emergency Services Training Centre became an accredited Live Fire Certification Site for 

College of the Rockies Fire Service program. 

o Two training sessions were conducted to certify 18 firefighters from the northeast region in 

Live Fire Level 1 and/or 2. 

 Staff will look at implementing an unwanted/false alarm strategy.  

o A false alarm penalty program was introduced. The protocol is currently in development.  

 

2019 Highlights  

 Training Centre upgrades were completed in 2019. 

o Installed a washroom facility at the Training Centre, relocated from the Public Works site. 

o Installed a Gear Storage/Change room for firefighters training on the site to maintain 

minimum exposure to the hazards of the fire training. 

o Installed a new floor in the classroom at the Training Centre. 

  

  

Aerial view Burn Building Burn Building 
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2020 Goals 

 Implement and track performance of the new policy for response protocols as directed by 

Council. 

o Direct staff with regards to operational protocol for call backs on responses. 

o Develop a system to track the results of actions stemming from the new protocol. 

 Implement an unwanted/false alarm strategy. 

o Develop protocols for fair imposition of penalties for false alarms. 

 Recertify Ladder Truck 4 to extend its operational status. 

o Work with a truck service specialist to ensure the apparatus meets the National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) and Fire Underwriters Survey (FUS) requirements for 

recertification. 

 Redevelop the training program for staff and auxiliary members for skills maintenance and new 

training opportunities. 

 Develop and engage in mutual aid agreements with our mutual aid communities. 

 

Airport 

The Dawson Creek Regional Airport provides vital services and 

facilities for air carriers, corporate, private, air ambulance 

(government), courier, police, and military aircraft.  

Airport operations and procedures such as: security, safety, bird 

and wildlife control, vehicle and airside access control, airfield 

maintenance, apron control, terminal services, foreign object 

debris/damage control, and aviation fuel monitoring programs 

are dictated by regulatory requirements. We continue to meet 

and exceed regulatory requirements.   

  

Peace Photographics 
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2019 Goals  

 Entice and secure an air carrier who will establish a direct transportation link to one of the major 

airports in British Columbia or Alberta.  

o Completed with the announcement of West Jet Link providing non-stop service to and from 

Calgary beginning 26 April 2020. 

 Continue to assess the Airport’s current and future infrastructure needs and ensure they are 

prioritized and entered into the City’s 5-Year Capital Plan. 

o Capital plan completed including a new De-Icing Vehicle along with a pavement line painting 

machine. Currently reviewing and considering renovations to the ATB HVAC system and the 

Maintenance Hangar. 

 Continue to explore other business opportunities that will contribute to the economic 

well-being of the community.  

o Airport fees were studied with the intent of raising revenue at the airport. New services now 

conducted by City Airport Staff in 2019 include de-Icing services, as well as the takeover of 

fueling operations. 

 Actively engage the stakeholders such as medevacs, charters and scheduled airlines and adjust 

airport operations to better suit them. 

o 2019 saw WASCO staff meet with various users of the airport with the intent of realizing their 

concerns in our future planning.  

 Make a deliberate, conscious effort to deliver the safest and most reliable transportation link 

within the region.  

o 2019 saw the delivery of a Runway Drainage Capital Project fully funded by Transport Canada. 

Along with this, the runway designation change and runway signage will be completed as per 

current standards and recommended practices.  

 

2019 Highlights 

 West Jet Link announcement of operations. 

 Infrastructure planning for a 1000’ Runway extension. 

 City Staff providing De-Ice and fueling operations. 

 WASCO providing Airport Management for the Airport. 

 

2020 Goals  

 Continued study to increasing revenue at the airport while reducing costs where allowed. 

 Application for various grants to fund the proposed runway extension. 

 Regulated Quality Assurance audits to ensure all safety and security regulations are met and/or 

exceeded. 

  

Peace Photographics 
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Royal Canadian Mounted Police 

The Dawson Creek RCMP Detachment is funded primarily by the City of Dawson Creek, and includes 29 

uniformed members, 9 civilian support staff, 4 civilian casual support staff and 12 guards and matrons. 

The detachment building is municipally owned and maintained. Members of the Dawson Creek 

Detachment provide policing coverage to the municipality as well as to the rural areas surrounding 

Dawson Creek. 

 

2019 Goals  

 Decrease the amount of Break & Enters by developing a better relationship and communication 

protocols with Rural Crime Watch and Citizens on Patrol and conducting a minimum of two public 

town-hall sessions to provide preventative information to residents and business owners. 

o Dawson Creek RCMP attended and participated in multiple Rural Crime Watch and COPS 

meetings throughout the year and also attended the South Peace Crime Prevention AGM.  

New information sharing protocols have been adopted and continue to benefit each of the 

programs. 

o Two public town-hall sessions have been planned for willing participants wanting to decrease 

their likelihood of becoming a victim of property crime.  The first town-hall presentation was 

completed in January with the second being scheduled for March 2020.  The target from the 

first meeting was to decrease the number of break and enters by 8–10% by March 31, 2020.  

Result to-date, compared to last year during the same time period, break and enters have 

decreased by 13%. 

 Decrease the amount of vehicle thefts by enhancing the current BAIT Car program. 

o Dawson Creek RCMP has continued to utilize the BAIT car program within the Dawson Creek 

area.  A new BAIT car was received in January and was deployed. The target for the BAIT 

program was to decrease the number of vehicle thefts by 8–10% by March 31, 2020.  The 

result to-date, in comparison to last year during the same time period, vehicle thefts have 

decreased by 25%. 

 Increase the number of Breach Charges by tracking the number of curfew checks being completed 

by each Watch, conducting one warrant “round-up” each quarter and the establishment of a new 

Prolific Offender Program in consultation with stakeholders. 

o For monthly tracking of curfew checks, Dawson Creek RCMP identified a member to monitor 

the monthly curfew check being conducted and to report the results to the management 

team.  To-date, 701 curfew checks have been completed, which has resulted in a total of 43 

breach charges submitted to Crown Counsel for charge approval. 
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o Warrant round up was adapted in which a member of the GIS unit was assigned to conduct a 

review of all outstanding warrants and to take proactive step to getting the outstanding arrest 

warrants executed.  To-date, this member has been successful in taking action in a number of 

arrest warrants; many of which were dated by several years. 

o Multiple offenders were entered into the Prolific Offender Program throughout the year 

leading to increased monitoring resulting in multiple offenders being arrested and charged 

when found to be breaching.  Target to increased number of breach charges by 10–15% by 

March 31, 2020.  The result to-date, in comparison to last year during the same time period, 

breach charges submitted for charge approval by the Dawson Creek RCMP has increased by 

33%. 

 Reduce the amount of police-required mental health calls by joining or creating a mental health 

strategy committee with key stakeholders, conducting a review of all 2018-2019 mental health 

calls to determine the reason for the increase over the last year and prepare a report and establish 

new Detachment mental health response protocols in consultation with stakeholders utilizing 

information gleaned from the report. 

o Cst. Karlee Vanhie was assigned to be the Detachment mental health liaison and took steps 

to meet stakeholders in the mental health community.  Cst. Vanhie is now a member of the 

Community Advisory Committee and works with stakeholder to address the needs of the 

mental health community in the Dawson Creek. Area. 

o To identify the reason for the sharp increase in mental health calls for 2018, a member was 

assigned to conduct a review of all mental health calls for 2018, which was completed in 2019. 

o New response protocols have been created outlining RCMP responsibilities and authorities 

pertaining to mental health calls.  Stakeholders have been consulted and joint training with 

stakeholders is currently being arranged.  Target was to decrease the number of mental health 

calls by 10–15% by March 31, 2020.  The result to date, in comparison to last year during the 

same time period, mental health call have decreased by 13%. 
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2019 Highlights  

 Total calls for service decreased by 3% 

 Break and Enters decreased by 13% 

 Vehicle Thefts decreased by 25% 

 Mental Health Calls decreased by 13% 

 Breach Charges increased by 33% 
 

o Over 2019 multiple priority offenders known to have links to organized crime were 
apprehended and held in custody resulting in a sharp decline in property crime within the 
Dawson Creek area over the last year.  

o In mid-2019 Dawson Creek RCMP introduced the “Spot Initiative” as a means of alerting 
vehicle owners that they had left their vehicles unsecured or during which time they have left 
valuables within plain view. The initiative has been very successful in increasing knowledge 
and awareness for the local public of the importance of locking their vehicles and securing 
valuables.  

o The new Prolific Offender Management Program has been very successful in targeting repeat 
criminals and holding them accountable to court-imposed conditions. The success of the 
program comes primarily from the collaboration and partnership of stakeholders such as; but 
not limited to, Public Prosecution Service of Canada, Parole, and Probation Services.  

 

2020 Goals  

Priorities identified for 2020: 

 Property Crime 

 Drugs 

 Organized Crime 

 Community Involvement 
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Library 

The Dawson Creek Municipal Library houses a physical collection of 69,638 items and serves 4,000 active 

library patrons. Our total circulation in 2019 was approximately 70,000 items circulated. In addition to 

books, the library offers reference books, newspapers, magazines, audio books, DVDs, ESL books, adult 

literacy books and provides access to 88,400 e-Books, e-Audiobooks and e-Magazines free of charge to all 

patrons. The library borrows books from other BC libraries for our patrons and lend books to patrons of 

other BC libraries through our interlibrary loan system – in 2019, we completed approximately 3,000 

interlibrary loan transactions. The library is also home to the Calverley Collection – a valuable local history 

collection. 

The library offers regular programs for babies, toddlers, preschoolers, school-age children, adults and 

seniors. We also provide free public internet access on six computers, free Wi-Fi, as well as photocopying 

and scanning services. In 2019, public internet workstation sessions totaled nearly 4,000 sessions. This 

includes people using the computers for recreation but also work-related tasks – including completing 

work-training tests, and creating and emailing resumes. Computers are used by the public to access 

immigration forms, court forms, and federal and provincial government forms and documents. Often 

users are from rural areas where internet access is limited.  

Other services include invigilating exams for students enrolled in post-secondary institutions through 

distance learning and the library offers a monthly outreach program that has staff deliver books and 

audiobooks to homebound patrons. 

  

Dawson Creek Public Library 
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2019 Goals  

Partnerships 

The library always strives to collaborate with groups and organizations in our community to provide 

services and valuable free programming to everyone in our city and the surrounding area. In 2019, the 

library worked with the following groups: 

 Dawson Creek Rotary Club Sunrise – we are a registration hub for the Rotary Club’s Dolly Parton 

Imagination Library. We continue to promote the program within the library and during outreach 

events in the community. 

 Dawson Creek Literacy Society – the library partners with the society to host a senior’s board 

game morning once a month 

 Community Services – the library participates in Park and Play Events. 

 Encana Events Centre/Tourism Dawson Creek – the library hosted a Hockey Storytime event with 

the WHL Edmonton Oil Kings and the Prince George Cougars. 

 Partnered with local organizers of the first Jingle Jog/Christmas Carnival during the Christmas Tree 

Light Up. The library provided crafts, stories and staff to help at the family event. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increasing access to early literacy opportunities 

Working with the Building Learning Together Society, the library participated in the BLT Early Years Pop-Up 

Event and the Baby Welcome Party in 2019. This work increases access to early literacy opportunities for 

the youngest members of our community.   

 

 

 

Edmonton Oil Kings Hockey Storytime 
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Increase adult programming 

In 2019, the library initiated a book club for adults. The club meets once a month to discuss a chosen book. 

The club has regular members who enjoy the challenge of reading something they might not chose on 

their own.  

The library hosted two local author book launches and a houseplant exchange event in 2019. 

The Friends of the Library and the library staff work together to host quarterly senior’s tea afternoons. 

Residents of Rotary Manor and seniors from the general public enjoy an afternoon of refreshments and 

local entertainment. 

Increase the library’s visibility in the community 

The library launched an Outreach Program in the summer of 2019. Armed with a laptop, pop-up tent, 

books, and library cards, staff took the public library outside the library walls. Our main objective was 

increasing the library’s presence in our community and taking our services to the public wherever we 

could find them. Staff registered new patrons and loaned items from the library collection at the 

Multicultural Fusion Festival, Community Services Park and Play, Pioneer Village Opening Day Celebration, 

and the In Unity Mental Health Awareness Day at the Calvin Kruk Centre. We also promoted the Dolly 

Parton Imagination Library at these events. 

2019 Highlights 

 The first Noon Year’s Eve event for families was a huge success in 2019. More than 100 children 

as well as their parents and caretakers attended the celebration. Attendees included many new 

faces who had never been to the library before. 

 The library’s annual summer reading club registered nearly 600 children in 2019. This hugely 

popular program includes improving literacy skills, crafts, fun activities and special event days 

throughout July and August. The focus is on maintaining and improving children’s literacy skills 

during their time away from school. It also promotes early literacy in pre-school age children.  

 Our children’s programming continues to be popular with families. The library offers Babies and 

Books, Toddler Tales, Preschool Storytime and two Afterschool Kidz programs for eight week 

twice a year. 
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2020 Goals 

 Increase adult programming that focusses on opportunities to learn and be entertained. The 

library is currently working toward providing “Adulting Classes” and “Local Expert” evenings.  

 Establish connections with local aboriginal organizations and partner with them to provide library 

services and programming to their community both at the library and in their communities. 

 Continue our Outreach Program – sending the library out into the community at places you might 

not normally find us.  

  

Noon Year’s Eve 2019 
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Permissive Tax Exemptions 

 

 
REGISTERED OWNER 

 
ROLL 

NUMBER 

 
LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

 

 
CIVIC ADDRESS 

EXEMPT 
PROPERTY 

TAXES 

Not for profit - sport related     

Dawson Creek Athletic Association 
(Clubhouse & Golf Shop) 

 
5598.000 

Lot 1, Plan PGP 
36955 

2105 Alaska 
Highway 

 
$ 13,799.40 
      

Dawson Creek Athletic Association 
(Golf Course) 

 
4392.000 

 
Lot 3, Plan 21635 

 
2100 Hart Highway 

 
6,562.23 

     
Dawson Creek Athletic Association 
(Golf Course) 

 
5000.000 

 
Lot A, Plan 26918 

2121 Alaska 
Highway 

 
27,246.11 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: South Peace Motor Sports 

Association, track) 

 
 

5320.300 

 
 

Lot 14, Plan 28275 

 
 

65 Collins Road 

 
 

371.04 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: South Peace Motor Sports 

Association, track) 

 
 

5320.400 

 
 

Lot 15, Plan 28275 

 
 

61 Collins Road 

 
 

540.80 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: South Peace Motor Sports 

Association, track) 

 
 

5320.500 

 
 

Lot 16, Plan 28275 

 
 

57 Collins Road 

 
 

1,545.16 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: South Peace Motor Sports 

Association, track) 

 
 

5320.600 

 
 

Lot 17, Plan 28275 

 
 

53 Collins Road 

 
 

901.68 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: The Dawson Creek 
Curling Club) * 

 

 
4200.012 

 
Lot 2, Plan 
BCP44375 

 

 
1113 106 Avenue 

 

 
15,163.88 

Total Not for profit - sport related    $66,130.30 

     
Not for profit - 
housing/seniors/hospitals/schools 

    

 

Dawson Creek Native Housing Society 
(Driver House) 

 

 
380.010 

Lot 1 Plan 
BCP36236 

 

 
10600 17 Street 

 

 
14,922.96 

     
Dawson Creek Society for Community 
Living (Canalta Residence-Group home for 4 

Disabled residents) 

 
 

2562.000 

 
Lot 18 Block 6 Plan 
7613 

 
 

1908 110 Avenue 

 
 

4,209.54 

     
Provincial Rental Housing Corp (Dawson 

Creek Society for Community Living - Disability 
Apartments) 

 
 

235.000 

 

Lot 5 & 6, Block 1, 
Plan 2285 

 
 

10717 13 Street 

 
 

4,734.52 
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REGISTERED OWNER 

 
ROLL 

NUMBER 

 
LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

 

 
CIVIC ADDRESS 

EXEMPT 
PROPERTY 

TAXES 

South Peace Senior Citizen's 
Association (Recreation Hall) 

 
 

4202.000 
Block C except Plan 
28034, Plan 12537 

1101 McKellar 
Avenue 

 
 

4,665.96 

     
South Peace Community Resource 

Society (Group Home for 5 disabled 
residents) 

 
 

2057.000 

Lot 6 Block 1 Plan 
7090 

 
 

1020 95 Avenue 

 
 

4,021.91 

     
 

South Peace Community Resource 
Society (Group Home for disabled 
adults) 

 

 
757.000 

Parcel B (P7439) of 
1 Block 16 Plan 
3025 

 

 

1311 106 Avenue 

 

 
3,127.50 

     
South Peace Community Resource 
Society (Reconnect Youth  program 
building) 

 
122.000 

Lot 2 Block 7 Plan 
2244 

 
904 103 Avenue 

 

4,212.98 
 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: Kiwanis Arts Centre 
Society) * 

 

 

329.000 

 
Lots 12-16, Block 
16, Plan 2678 

 

 

10401 10 Street 

 

 

167,486.08 

     
Total Not for profit - 
housing/seniors/hospitals/schools 

    
$207 381.45   

     
Not for profit - social related     

Dawson Creek Community Christian 
Education Society (Ron Pettigrew 
Christian 
School) 

 
 

5589.000 

 
Lot 1 Plan 
PGP35427 

 
 

1761 110 Avenue 

 
 

64,407.81 

  
 

5589.000 

 
Lot 1 Plan 
PGP35427 

 
 

1761 110 Avenue 

 
 

64,407.81 
 

005589.000 Lot 1 Plan PGP35427 
 

1761 110 Avenue 64407.81 
 

     
     BC Grain Producers Association 4479.000 Lot 2 Plan 24732 401 114 Avenue 21,028.12 

 
     
South Peace Historical Society (NAR 

  Park Station) 
 
4925.010 

Lot 1, Block 15, 
Plan 26496 

 
900 Alaska Avenue 

 
5,842.78 

 
     
Dawson Creek Society for Community 
Living (Opportunity Centre-classes & 
social events) 

 
 
1113.150 

 
 
Lot B Plan 3990 

 
 
10108 14 Street 

 
 

     4,695.79 

     
Dawson Creek Society for Community 

Living 

 
 
402.000 

Lot 5 Block 2 Plan 
2958 

 
 
1416 102 Avenue 

 
 
         6,734.29 
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REGISTERED OWNER 

 
ROLL 

NUMBER 

 
LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

 
 
 

CIVIC ADDRESS 

EXEMPT 
PROPERTY 

TAXES 

Dawson Creek Society for the 
Mentally Handicapped (office) 

 
 

397.000 
Lot 4 Block 1 Plan 
2958 

 
 

1334 102 Avenue 

 
 

8,283.81 

     
Dawson Creek Youth Centre Society 
(o/a The Ark) 

 
 

3782.500 
Lot 1, Plan 
PGP12205 

 
 

8800 17 St 

 
 

5,677.53 

     
 

 
Nawican Friendship Centre 

 

 
395.000 

Lot 2, Block 1, Plan 
2958 Except Plan 
6941 

 

 
1320 102 Avenue 

 

 
3,327.17 

      
 

Peace Region Internet Society 

 
 

4210.000 

 
 

Lot A Plan 12748 

 
 

929 106 Avenue 

 
 

12,428.16 

     
South Peace Child Development 
Society 

 
4860.050 

 
Lot 2, Plan 25965 

 
9001 10 Street 

 
9,036.21 

     
South Peace Community Resources 
Society (office) 

 
3523.012 

Lot 1, Plan 
EPP12710 

 
10110 13 Street 

 
9,251.88 

     
The British Columbia Society for the 
Prevention of Cruelty to Animals 

 
 

2330.000 
Lot 10, Block 2, 
Plan 7219 

 
 

637 114 Avenue 

 
 

2,592.98 

     
The British Columbia Society for the 
Prevention of Cruelty to Animals 

 
 

4835.000 
Lot A, Plan 
PGP25707 

 
 

11418 3 St 

 
 

16,469.58 

 
 

 
  

The Governing Council of the Salvation 
Army in Canada 

 
 

209.000 
Lot 17, Block 11, 
Plan 2244 

 
 

1019 103 Avenue 

 
 

5,330.56 

     
The Salvation Army BC North & Yukon 
Territory Division 

 
 

210.000 
Lot 18, Block 11, 
Plan 2244 

 
 

1021 103 Avenue 

 
 

4,757.06 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: South Peace Mile 0 
Park Society) 

 

 
5620.100 

 
Lot A, Plan 
EPP30054 

 
1901 Alaska 
Highway 

 

 
28,160.04 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: South Peace Mile 0 
Park Society) 

 

 
1590.000 

 
Parcel A, Plan 
B5849 

 
1949 Alaska 
Highway 

 

 
17,634.21 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (lessee:  Art Gallery) 

 
TBD 

   
 

2470.22 
      

The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: South Peace Mile 0 
Park Society) 

 

 

4925.001 

 
Lot 1, Block 15, Plan 
26496 

 
900 Alaska 
Highway 

 

 

401.94 
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REGISTERED OWNER 

 
ROLL 

NUMBER 

 
LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION 

 

 
CIVIC ADDRESS 

EXEMPT 
PROPERTY 

TAXES 

     
The Corporation of the City of Dawson 
Creek (Lessee: Dawson Creek Community 
Garden Society) 
Park Society) 

 

 
24.101 

 
Part SW ¼ of 

Section 15 

  

 
73.19 

 Total Not for profit - social related    $228,603.33 

     
Total tax exemption from the above 
properties 

    
$502,115.08 
      

 

     

 

*= New applications for permissive tax exemption received in 2019 

Permissive Tax Exemptions – Public Worship 

 

 
REGISTERED OWNER 

 
ROLL 

NUMBER 

 
LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

 

 
CIVIC ADDRESS 

EXEMPT 
PROPERTY 

TAXES 

     
 

Anglican Synod Diocese of Caledonia 
 

212.000 
Lots 20 & 21, Block 
11, Plan 2244 

 
1029 103 Avenue 

 
$ 672.96 

      
 
 
 

B.C. Conference of the Mennonite 
Bretheran Churches 

 
 
 
 
 

2542.000 

Parcel A (E013110) 
of Lot 17 and 
Amended Lot 18 
(87041M), Block 3, 
Plan 7613 

 
 
 
 

1800 109 Avenue 

 
 
 
 
 

200.26 

     
 

Baptist Union of Western Canada 
 

4020.000 

Parcel Z, Block 2, 
Plan 10954 

 
1400 113 Avenue 

 
252.10 

     
Christian & Missionary Alliance 
Canadian Pacific District 

 
4860.000 

 
Lot 1, Plan 25965 

 
9009 10 Street 

 
10,132.99 

     
Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day 
Saints 

5607.000 Lot 1, Plan PGP 
45251 

10901 13 Street 1,794.27 

     
 

Church of the Nazarene 
 

3172.000 
 

Parcel A, Plan 8288 

429 & 433 95 
Avenue 

 
1,259.51 

     
Dawson Creek Community Church 
and 
Missionary Society 

 
282.000 

 
Lot 1, Plan 2641 

 
1224 103 Avenue 

 
669.91 

     
General Church of the New 
Jerusalem in Dawson Creek, British 
Columbia 

 
3110.000 

Parcel A (P2223) 
Block 7, Plan 7887 

 
9013 8 Street 

 
1,273.74 

     
Governing Council of Salvation Army 
Canada West 

 
265.000 

Lot 8, Block 5, Plan 
2490 

 
1436 104 Avenue 

 
236.86 

     
Grace Lutheran Church of Dawson 
Church 

 
4465.100 

Lot 1, Plan 
BCP30054 

 
11101 17 Street 

 
534.71 
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REGISTERED OWNER 

 
ROLL 

NUMBER 

 
LEGAL 

DESCRIPTION 

 

 
CIVIC ADDRESS 

EXEMPT 
PROPERTY 

TAXES 

 
Grandview Chapel 

 
2082.000 

Lot 1, Block 3, Plan 
7090 

 
900 94 Avenue 

 
807.14 

     
 

(vacant lot) 
 

2083.000 
Lot 2, Block 3, Plan 
7090 

 
904 94 Avenue 

 
760.24 
      

New Beginnings Baptist Church of 
Dawson Creek 

 
1286.000 

 
Lot 6, Plan 4850 

 
10221 18 Street 

 
823.41 

     
 

Pentecostal Assemblies of Canada 
 

4497.500 
Lot 1, Plan 25167 
Except Plan 27495 

 
11501 17 Street 

 
9,171.72 
      

 
Roman Catholic Episcopal Corp 

 
181.000 

Lots 3-6, Block 10, 
Plan 2244 

 
908 104 Avenue 

 
3,905.59 

 

Annual Development Cost Charges Report  

For the year ending December 31, 2019 

  

Opening Balance 
 

Development Cost 
Charges Received 

 

Expenditures 
 

Interest Earned 
 

Closing Balance 

 

Water 
 

$663.916.32 
 

$164,872.64 
 

0 
 

$16,803.20 
 

$845,592.16 
 

Sewer 
 

$378,196.58 
 

$76,808.44 
 

0 
 

$9,355.00 
 

$464,360.02 
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Assets  

 

Note: Net book value indicates the value of assets after deducting the accumulated depreciation from the 

original cost. 

Approximately 45% of the City’s 2019 asset base is related to buildings and improvements. As can be seen 

from the pie charts above $ spent correlate closely to the base except in the utility infrastructure category.  

 
2019 Baseline Comparison Summary 

In summary: 

• The City owns $355M in tangible capital assets at December 31, 2019. 

• Buildings, roads and utility infrastructure make up 87% of the total. 

• The largest asset investment by service area over the past two years is in Transportation (40.16%), 

followed by Utility Infrastructure (31.59%), General Government (17.63%), and Recreation 

(10.62%). 

• The asset base as a whole is approximately 55% through its useful service life. 

• A minimum of $8.9M (2019 Annual Depreciation) should be reinvested annually or set aside in 

reserves to maintain the asset base at its current level (to offset the depreciation effect). 

Greater investment is needed for equipment (29.5% remaining life), land improvement (44%) and road 

infrastructure replacement (43%) in the short term to maintain current service levels. 
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Linear Assets 

ASSETS 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Sidewalks 50.6 km 51.3 km 51.3 km 55.4 km 56.3 km 

Paved Streets (City Owned) 107.3 km 107.3 km 107.3 km 107.5 km 107.5 km 

Paved Lanes 2 km 2 km 2 km 2 km 2 km 

Gravelled Streets (City Owned) 16 km 16.5 km 16.5 km 16.5 km 16.5 km 

Sanitary Sewer Mains 110 km 111.6 km 111.6 km 113.4 km 115.3 km 

Water Mains (Domestic/Raw) 
143 km 
/19 km 

143 km 
/19 km 

143 km 
/19 km 

143 km   
/19 km 

143 km/ 
19 km 

Storm Sewer Main 65.2 km 65.8 km 65.8 km 67.8 km 71.9 km 

Service Connections to property 5197 5218 5224 5235 5268 

City Street Lights 571 585 585 610 634 

Sanitary Manholes 1136 1152 1152 1174 1188 

Signs 2250 2261 2261 2289 2306 

Storm Manholes 609 628 628 658 677 

Catch Basins 1076 1121 1121 1156 1178 

Fire Hydrants (City Owned) 485 484 484 495 498 

Water–Total Fixtures  

(**includes water main valves) 
1231 1230 1230 1270 1264 

Water Main Valves 1007 1006 1006 1039 1057 

Traffic Lights 2 2 2 2 2 

Solar Crossing Lights 7 8 8 10 11 

Solar Caution Lights (Warning) 2 2 2 2 2 

Solar Walking Path Lights 2 2 2 2 2 
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ASSETS 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Solar Stoplights 2 2 2 2 2 

Solar Street Lights Removed Removed Removed Removed 0 

Solar Speed Signs 4 
5 + 1 

portable 
5 + 1 

portable 
5 + 1     

portable 
5 + 1 

portable 

 

*Note:  These numbers are reflective of all City Owned assets. As of 2019, counts do not include 

abandoned services. 

 

 

Photo credit Channel Collective 
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Independent Auditor�s Report

To the Mayor and Council of The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of
Dawson Creek, which comprise of the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31,
2019 and the consolidated statements of operations and changes in surplus, changes in net debt and
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek as at December 31,
2019 and the results of its operations and its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with
Public Sector Accounting Standards.

Basis of Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the municipality
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the municipality's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Municipality or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the municipality's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor�s Report � (continued)

Auditor�s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor�s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the municipality�s internal control.

x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

x Conclude on the appropriateness of management�s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the municipality�s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor�s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor�s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the municipality to cease
to continue as a going concern.

x Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Dawson Creek, BC
April 6, 2020 Chartered Professional Accountants
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

December 31, 2019 

Financial Assets 
Cash (Note 2) 

Receivables (Note 3) 

Inventory of property held for resale (Note 4) 

Municipal finance authority deposits and demand notes (Note 5) 

Liabilities 
Temporary Borrowing (Note 6) 

Payables (Note 7) 

Accrued interest on long term debt 

Deferred revenue 

Municipal finance authority debt reserve (Note 5) 

Debenture debt (Note 8} 

Deferred capital contribution (Note 10) 

Net Debt 

Non Financial Assets 
Prepaid expenses 

Inventory of supplies held for consumption 

Tangible capital assets (Note 11) 

Accumulated Surplus(Note 12) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Approved by: 

, CGA, CIA, CFE, Chief Financial Officer 
_.,.../ 

4 

$ 28,223,142 $ 23,205,203 

8,808,368 6,921,423 

2,043,094 2,239,496 

39,074,604 32,366,122 

34,227 

8,616,797 8,864,109 

240,675 245,832 

3,943,922 4,061,141 

2,043,094 2,239,496 

24,178,692 27,314,865 

4,004,311 5,663,301 

43,027,491 48,422,971 

(3,952,887) (16,056,849) 

647,763 569,830 

607,192 668,462 

228,908,214 227,869,645 

230,163,169 229,107,937 

$ 226,210,282 $ 213,051,088 

kbarber
Rectangle



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGE IN SURPLUS

December 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018

Actual Budget
(unaudited)

Actual

Revenue

Net municipal property taxes (Note 13) $ 17,589,239 $ 17,668,905 $ 16,797,212

Grants in lieu of taxes 1,017,719 1,038,646 847,115

Sale of services 3,384,476 3,543,993 3,410,134

Other revenue from own sources 1,495,819 1,319,828 1,710,482

Government transfers (Note 14) 21,415,955 18,572,158 19,617,073

Return on investments 805,257 631,156 592,498

Amortization of deferred capital contribution 1,658,990 1,658,992 1,658,992

Land sales 18,300 - 12,550

Utility Fees 9,717,077 10,126,462 9,741,455

Actuarial adjustment 843,006 - 791,581

Gain/(loss) on sale of tangible capital assets 47,600 - (8,137)

57,993,438 54,560,140 55,170,955

Expenses

General government services 4,311,589 4,673,018 4,463,701

Protective services 8,996,516 9,393,914 9,057,748

Transportation services 8,497,927 8,794,764 8,412,907

Air transport 1,505,916 1,388,124 1,488,704

Environmental waste services 1,157,940 1,207,498 915,683

Public health and welfare 190,704 244,954 149,580

Environmental development services 1,170,338 1,603,453 1,035,370

Recreational and cultural services 11,470,978 12,136,529 13,282,193

Water and sewer utility services 7,532,336 7,774,922 6,667,270

44,834,244 47,217,176 45,473,156

Annual Surplus 13,159,194 7,342,964 9,697,799

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 213,051,088 213,051,088 203,353,289

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 226,210,282 $ 220,394,052 $ 213,051,088

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT

December 31, 2019

2019

Actual

2019

Budget
(unaudited)

2018

Actual

Annual Surplus $ 13,159,194 $ 7,342,964 $ 9,697,799

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,948,432 8,657,780 8,555,847

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (10,017,727) (12,023,247) (12,873,373)

Gain (loss) on sale of tangible capital assets (47,600) - 8,137

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 78,325 - 34,030

Acquisitions of prepaid expenses (891,975) - (938,277)

Use of prepaid expenses 814,043 - 981,591

Acquisition of supplies inventory (560,333) - (814,718)

Consumption of supplies inventory 621,603 - 541,153

Decrease in net debt 12,103,962 3,977,497 5,192,189

Net Debt, beginning of year (16,056,849) (16,056,849) (21,249,038)

Net Debt, end of year $ (3,952,887) $ (12,079,352) $ (16,056,849)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

6



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

December 31, 2019

2019 2018

Operating Activities

Annual Surplus $ 13,159,194 $ 9,697,799

Add (deduct) non-cash items:

Actuarial adjustment (843,006) (791,581)

Gain (loss) on sale of tangible capital asset (47,600) 8,137

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,948,432 8,555,847

Amortization of deferred capital contribution (1,658,990) (1,658,992)

19,558,030 15,811,210

(Increase) decrease in receivables (1,886,945) 2,074,119

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (77,932) 43,314

Decrease (increase) in inventory  of supplies held for consumption 61,270 (273,565)

(Decrease) increase in payables (247,312) 1,147,694

(Decrease) in accrued interest on long term debt (5,157) (40,035)

(Decrease) increase in deferred revenue (117,222) 613,468

17,284,732 19,376,205

Capital Activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (10,017,727) (12,873,373)

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 78,325 34,030

(9,939,402) (12,839,343)

Financing Activities

Short term borrowing payment (34,227) -

Debenture debt principal repayment (2,293,164) (2,388,048)

(2,327,391) (2,388,048)

Change in Cash and Investments 5,017,939 4,148,814

Cash and Investments, beginning of year 23,205,203 19,056,389

Cash and Investments, end of year $ 28,223,142 $ 23,205,203

Cash and Investments consist of the following:

Petty Cash - trade $ 83,651 $ 61,674

Bank 10,272,912 7,897,910

Internally Restricted Cash 17,866,579 15,245,619

$ 28,223,142 $ 23,205,203

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

General

The City of Dawson Creek is incorporated under the provisions of the British Columbia Local Government Act.  Its principle
activities include the provision of local government services to the residents of the incorporated area.

1 Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements of The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek are the representations of
management and conform to Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to British Columbia
municipalities.  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with local government accounting standards
established by the Public Sector Accounting and Auditing Standards Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants.  The significant accounting policies are as follows:

a) Basis of Presentation

The City follows the fund basis of accounting.  Funds are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or
attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations.  Currently in use are:

1) General Revenue Funds - to account for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another
fund.  The General Revenue Fund is the corporation's operating fund including collection of taxation, administering
operations related to general government, protective, transportation, waste, development and recreational services.
These funds include the General Operating, Water Operating and Sewer Operating Funds.

2) Capital Funds - to account for all capital assets of the corporation and offset by long term debt and investment in
capital assets. These funds include the General Capital, Water Capital and Sewer Capital Funds.

3) Reserve Funds - to account for the activities in reserves established for specific purposes by bylaw or the Local
Government Act.  The use of each reserve is governed by it's own bylaw or the Local Government Act. These funds
include the Equipment Pool, Tax Sale, Land Sale and Off Street Parking Funds.

b) Basis of Accounting

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are recognized in the period in
which the transactions or events occurred that gave rise to the revenues. Expenditures are generally recognized in the
period the goods and services are acquired and a liability is incurred or transfers are due.

c) Financial Instruments

The City's financial instruments consist of cash, receivables, Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) reserve deposits,
temporary borrowing, payables, accrued interest on long term debt, MFA demand notes, and long-term debt.  Unless
otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the City is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks
arising from these financial instruments.  The fair value of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values,
unless otherwise noted.

d) Use of Estimates

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting practices generally accepted in Canada.  In
preparing these financial statements management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include assumptions used in estimating
useful lives of tangible capital assets and related amortization, contributed tangible capital assets, developer
contributions, inventory of property held for resale and provisions for accrued liabilities.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

1 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

e) Reporting Entity

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures, changes in fund balances
and changes in financial position of the reporting entity, being The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek.  Financial
transactions of the Encana Events Centre and Dawson Creek Tourism are managed by a related party, Global Spectrum
Facility Management, LP and are consolidated into the City's financial statements as a governmental unit (refer to Note
16, Related Party Transactions.)

f) Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized in the period in which the transaction or events occurred that gave rise to the revenues. All
revenues are recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of
certainty or when their estimation is impractical.

(i) Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenues in the period the
transfers are authorized and any eligibility criteria have been met, except when and to the extent
that the transfer gives rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability for the recipient
government. Transfers received which meet the definition of a liability are included in deferred
revenue.

(ii) Taxation Revenue

Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general administrative services are recorded
as taxes for municipal purposes. Levies imposed by other taxing authorities are not included as
taxes for municipal purposes. Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year they are levied.

g) Deferred Revenue

Certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed. Revenue is
recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred or the services are performed.

h) Reserves for Future Expenditures

Reserves for future expenditures are non-statutory reserves which represent an appropriation of surplus for specific
purposes. Transfers to reserves for future expenditures include funds to finance incomplete projects and accumulations
for specific purposes.

i) Non Financial Assets

Non financial assets include tangible capital assets that have an economic life extending beyond the accounting period.
They are available for use, require operating and maintenance expenditures, and may need to be replaced in the future.
They include assets on hand and available for use by government in the near future, such as equipment, and assets for
use over a longer period, such as buildings and land.  Governments also acquire and make available to the public tangible
capital assets that are complex network systems such as water and sewer utility systems.

Also included in non financial assets are prepaid expenses which represent payments made in the current accounting
period for expenditures to be made in the provision of services in future years, and inventory of supplies held for
consumption which will be consumed in the provision of services in future years.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

1 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

i) Non Financial Assets (Continued)

Tangible capital assets and other non financial assets are accounted for as assets by the government because they can be
used to provide government services in future periods.  These assets do not normally provide resources to discharge the
liabilities of the government unless they are sold.

(i) Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consist of amounts paid in the current year for supplies and/or services used in
the following year.

(ii) Inventory of Supplies Held for Consumption

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable
value.

(iii) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts directly attributable to
acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  Interest on funding related to a
capital project is not capitalized as a part of the asset cost.  The cost, less residual value, of the
tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Asset Useful life-years

Land Not amortized

Land improvements 20

Building base structures 50

Building improvements 20

Machinery and equipment 7 - 30

Transportation infrastructure 25 - 75

Water and sewer utility infrastructure 50 -75

Annual amortization is not charged in the year of acquisition or disposition.  Assets under
construction (Work in Progress) are not amortized until the year following the year the asset is
available for use.

The City does not own any works of art and/or historical treasures.

j) Budget Presentation

The budget approved in May 2019 is presented in the financial statements, any subsequent amendments have not been
included.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

1 Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

   k)      Liabilities for contaminated sites

The City recognizes a liability for remediation of a contaminated site when the site is no longer in productive use or an
unexpected event resulting in contamination has occurred and the following criteria are satisfied: contamination exceeds
and environmental standard, the City is either directly responsible or has accepted responsibility for remediation, it is
expected future economic benefits will be given up and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

The City adopted Public Sector Accounting Standard 3260 - Liability for Contaminated Sites for the year ended December
31, 2015. The City has performed a review of it's properties. No determinable liability was identified from this review.

2 Cash

2019 2018

Unrestricted Cash

Bank $ 10,272,912 $ 7,897,910

Petty Cash - trade 83,651 61,674

Internally Restricted Cash

Bank 17,866,579 15,245,619

$ 28,223,142 $ 23,205,203

3 Receivables

2019 2018

Trade and Other receivables

Federal Government $ 558,267 $ 1,094,489

Provincial and Local Government 741,898 1,139,186

General 3,624,389 994,123

Property Tax 2,456,796 2,460,757

Utilities 1,427,018 1,232,868

$ 8,808,368 $ 6,921,423

4 Inventory of Property Held for Resale

Opening 
Balance

Additions Disposals
at cost

Balance
2019

Balance
2018

Property acquired for taxes
subject to redemption $ 52,137 $ - $ (4,592)$ 47,545 $ 52,137

Tax property not subject
to redemption 1,009,092 - - 1,009,092 1,009,092

Unsold land 15,800 - - 15,800 15,800

Allowance for loss (1,077,029) - 4,592 (1,072,437) (1,077,029)

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

5 Municipal Finance Authority Reserve Deposits and Demand Notes

The City issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority.  As a condition of these borrowings, a portion
of the debenture proceeds are withheld by the Municipal Finance Authority as a debt reserve fund.  The City also executes
demand notes in conjunction with each debenture whereby the City may be required to loan certain amounts to the
Municipal Finance Authority.

The details of the cash deposits and demand notes are as follows:

Cash
Deposits

Demand
Notes

Total
2019

Total
2018

General Fund Operations $ 309,002 $ 872,776 $ 1,181,778 $ 1,174,745

Water Fund Operations 171,090 416,390 587,480 766,711

Sewer Fund Operations 88,276 185,560 273,836 298,040

$ 568,368 $ 1,474,726 $ 2,043,094 $ 2,239,496

6 Temporary Borrowing

2019 2018

Temporary borrowing $ - $ 34,227

7 Payables

2019 2018

Trade and Other Payables

Federal Government $ 996,056 $ 1,152,013

Provincial Government 244,348 303,329

General 6,664,507 6,104,539

Capital Payables 711,886 1,304,228

$ 8,616,797 $ 8,864,109

8 Debenture Debt

City
Bylaw #

Purpose Interest
Rate

Issued Redeemed Outstanding
2019

Outstanding
2018

3879 South Peace Multiplex %5.11 $ 9,850,000 $ 4,970,240 $ 4,879,760 $ 5,388,981

4080 Calvin Kruk Arts Center %2.90 4,000,000 1,060,954 2,939,046 3,109,012

4107 Capital works %2.90 81,007 53,291 27,716 36,253

4108 Capital works %2.90 804,005 528,920 275,085 359,819

4109 Capital works %2.90 1,505,256 990,242 515,014 673,652

4140 Capital works %3.15 2,700,000 1,491,660 1,208,340 1,481,947

4166 Local area service - 2013 %3.00 2,790,000 1,258,655 1,531,345 1,803,199

12



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

8 Debenture Debt (Continued)

City
Bylaw #

Purpose Interest
Rate

Issued Redeemed Outstanding
2019

Outstanding
2018

4211 Local area service - 2014 %2.75 20,997 7,544 13,453 15,437

4212 Local service - 2014 %2.75 49,433 17,761 31,672 36,344

4213 Local area service - 2014 %2.75 174,365 62,647 111,718 128,197

4215 Capital works %2.20 1,382,000 496,535 885,465 1,016,076

4216 Capital works %2.20 450,000 161,679 288,321 330,850

4264 Local area service - 2015 %2.80 176,043 31,173 144,870 160,687

Total General 23,983,106 11,131,301 12,851,805 14,540,454

3324 Water improvements %2.10 620,000 620,000 - 46,506

3339 Water improvements %2.10 2,250,000 2,250,000 - 168,771

3405 Water improvements %2.10 500,000 500,000 - 37,505

3469 Water improvements %2.10 195,000 180,417 14,583 28,538

3527 Water improvements %1.75 750,000 586,110 163,890 213,402

3527 Water improvements %2.40 175,334 125,445 49,889 60,913

3572 Water improvements %2.40 200,000 143,093 56,907 69,482

3619 Water improvements %2.40 1,200,000 783,110 416,890 488,744

3527 Water improvements %2.00 700,000 456,814 243,186 285,101

3619 Water improvements %2.00 1,971,000 1,286,258 684,742 802,762

3527 Water improvements %2.25 556,666 280,890 275,776 304,555

3824 Water improvements %2.25 555,000 280,049 274,951 303,643

3888 Water improvements %2.25 1,844,900 930,923 913,977 1,009,354

4168 LA: Loran Reservoir %3.00 3,500,000 1,578,957 1,921,043 2,262,078

Total Water 15,017,900 10,002,066 5,015,834 6,081,354

3315 Sewer improvements %2.10 485,000 485,000 - 36,380

3759 Sewer improvements %1.80 300,000 185,284 114,716 131,637

4121 Sewer improvements %3.85 535,496 295,844 239,652 293,916

4199 Sewer improvements %2.75 7,000,000 1,043,315 5,956,685 6,231,124

Total Sewer 8,320,496 2,009,443 6,311,053 6,693,057

$ 47,321,502 $ 23,142,810 $ 24,178,692 $ 27,314,865
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

8 Debenture Debt (Continued)

Future debt principle reductions
on existing debt:

General Water Sewer Total

2020 $ 1,313,847 $ 548,371 $ 303,158 $ 2,165,376

2021 1,313,847 541,907 303,158 2,158,912

2022 1,313,847 541,907 303,158 2,158,912

2023 1,114,760 519,225 303,158 1,937,143

2024 889,874 507,874 258,556 1,656,304

$ 5,946,175 $ 2,659,284 $ 1,471,188 $ 10,076,647

9 Interest on Long Term Debt 

2019 2018

Interest on General Service $ 82,295 $ 66,044

Interest on Recreation Service 619,335 619,335

Interest on Water Service 373,439 405,849

Interest on Sewer Service 222,772 228,702

Interest on Transportation Service 290,033 287,837

$ 1,587,874 $ 1,607,767

10 Deferred Capital Contribution

In agreement in 2010, the City partnered with Shell Canada to build a water reclamation plant. The project was completed in
2012. The total project cost was $18.3 million. Shell Canada funded $16.6 million of the total project cost in exchange for
3,400cu/m of reclaimed water a day for a period of 10 years. Future amortization reductions are as follows:

Opening
Balance

Annual
Amount

Closing
Balance

2019 $ 5,663,301 $ 1,658,990 $ 4,004,311

2020 4,004,311 1,658,990 2,345,321

2021 2,345,321 1,658,990 686,331

2022 686,331 686,331 -
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2019

11 Tangible Capital Assets

Net Book
Value

Continuity
Schedule

Opening
Balance

2019
WIP

Reallocation
Additions Net
of Disposals

Annual
Amortization

Net of
Disposals

Ending
Balance

2019

Ending
Balance

2018

Land $ 11,643,915 $ 29,505 $ (558)$ (328,737) $ 11,344,125 $ 11,643,915

Buildings 106,118,384 1,941,577 185,716 (4,427,777) 103,817,900 106,118,384

Equipment 8,981,993 361,406 968,659 (843,434) 9,468,624 8,981,993

Road 43,441,488 77,249 36,463 (2,085,016) 41,470,184 43,441,488

Utility Infrastructure 56,144,441 495,306 151,940 (1,027,192) 55,764,495 56,144,441

Work In Progress 1,539,424 (2,905,043) 8,408,505 - 7,042,886 1,539,424

$ 227,869,645 $ - $ 9,750,725 $ (8,712,156) $ 228,908,214 $ 227,869,645

Cost
Continuity
Schedule

Opening
Balance

2019
WIP

Reallocation Additions Disposals

Ending
Balance

2019

Ending
Balance

2018

Land - Cost $ 15,780,185 $ 29,505 $ - $ (558) $ 15,809,132 $ 15,780,185

Building Cost 147,885,488 1,941,577 185,716 - 150,012,781 147,885,488

Equipment - Cost 21,071,321 361,406 1,235,103 (266,443) 22,401,387 21,071,321

Road - Cost 83,968,507 77,249 36,463 - 84,082,219 83,968,507

Utility Infrastructure - Cost 74,644,081 495,306 151,940 - 75,291,327 74,644,081

Work In Progress 1,539,423 (2,905,043) 8,408,505 - 7,042,885 1,539,423

$ 344,889,005 $ - $ 10,017,727 $ (267,001) $ 354,639,731 $ 344,889,005

Amortization
Continuity
Schedule

Opening
Balance

2019 Adjustment
Annual

Amortization Disposals

Ending
Balance

2019

Ending
Balance

2018

Land - Accumulated Amortization $ 4,136,270 $ - $ 328,737 $ - $ 4,465,007 $ 4,136,270

Building - Accumulated Amortization 41,767,102 - 4,427,777 - 46,194,879 41,767,102

Equipment - Accumulated Amortization 12,089,328 - 1,079,710 (236,276) 12,932,762 12,089,328

Road - Accumulated Amortization 40,527,020 - 2,085,016 - 42,612,036 40,527,020

Utility Infrastructure - Accumulated Amortization 18,499,640 - 1,027,192 - 19,526,832 18,499,640

$ 117,019,360 $ - $ 8,948,432 $ (236,276) $ 125,731,516 $ 117,019,360

The City of Dawson Creek has a collection of performer signed guitars and memorabilia from past shows and events that took
place at the Encana Events Centre.  This collection has not been recognized in the financial statements, as a value is not able
to be reasonably determined for the collection due to the uniqueness of the collection and market.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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11 Tangible Capital Assets (Continued)

a) Work in Progress

Work in Progress are costs related to projects currently under planning, development or construction, that
will result in a finished asset at a future date. Costs related to planning, development or construction are
capitalized until such time as the property is ready for use. Work in Progress assets are not amortized until
the year after the asset is put into service.

b) Contributed Tangible Capital Assets

Contributed capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of contribution.

c) Write-down of Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the
City's ability to provide goods and services. Any impairment is accounted for as an expense in the
consolidated statement of operations. No impairments were identified or recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2019.

12 Accumulated Surplus

Operating
Fund

Surplus

Capital
Fund

Surplus

Invested in
Tangible

Capital Assets 2019 2018

General Fund $ 4,929,242 $ 8,388,333 $ 125,126,104 $ 138,443,679 $ 130,391,081

Water Fund 1,256,501 2,583,506 43,535,060 47,375,067 45,917,940

Sewer Fund 2,862,922 4,693,844 32,064,049 39,620,814 36,002,724

Statutory Reserves - - - 770,722 739,343

$ 9,048,664 $ 15,665,682 $ 200,725,213 $ 226,210,282 $ 213,051,088

13 Net Municipal Property Taxes

2019 2018

Municipal Property Tax $ 17,597,754 $ 16,804,423

Add: Requisitions collected on behalf of other taxing authorities

Ministry of finance(school taxes) 5,535,949 5,674,863

Peace River Regional District 1,790,943 1,646,609

Peace River Regional Hospital District 1,507,085 1,497,493

British Columbia Assessment Authority 116,621 122,999

Municipal Finance Authority 515 504

Total property taxes collected 26,548,867 25,746,891

Less: Requisitions paid out to other taxing authorities (8,959,628) (8,949,679)

Net Municipal Property Taxes $ 17,589,239 $ 16,797,212

16



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF DAWSON CREEK

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14 Government Transfers

2019 2018

Unconditional

Small Communities $ 359,936 $ 354,181

Carbon Tax Rebate 126,626 81,865

Peace River Agreement 15,279,041 14,992,701

15,765,603 15,428,747

Conditional

Regional

Economic Development - Grant Writing Support Program 8,000 8,000

Northern Development Initiative Trust 111,632 186,191

Regional 911 Service - 249,878

Rural Fire Protection 265,700 248,500

South Peace Economic Development 9,500 10,000

Sub Regional Recreation 590,525 486,810

Watershed Steward Cost Sharing 40,000 40,000

Total - Regional 1,025,357 1,229,379

Provincial

Arterial Lighting - Ministry of Transportation 956 927

Lift Station 10,000 -

Bike BC - 83,294

Community Works Fund Agreement -Gas Tax 1,134,664 566,930

Emergency Management BC - 2016 Flood Response 93,063 56,193

New Build Canada Fund - Small Communities Fund 16,062 692,363

RCMP - 47,549

ICBC 56,100 -

Clean Water & Waste Water Funds 240,123 11,532

Traffic Fine Revenue Sharing 172,779 174,934

Total- Provincial 1,723,747 1,633,722

Federal

Airport Capital Assistance Program 2,552,000 264,660

Flood Mitigation - Federal 93,063 -

Clean Water & Waste Water Funds 240,123 11,532

New Build Canada Fund - Small Communities Fund 16,062 1,049,033

Total - Federal 2,901,248 1,325,225

Total - Conditional 5,650,352 4,188,326

$ 21,415,955 $ 19,617,073
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15 Pension Liability

The employer and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The Board of
Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets
and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based
on a formula. As at December 31, 2018, the plan has about 205,000 active members and approximately 101,000 retired
members. Active members include approximately 40,000 contributors from local governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan
funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The
actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry- age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of
member and employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be
adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded
actuarial liability.  

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2,866 million
funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The Corporation of the City of Dawson Creek paid $1,081,249 (2018- 1,062,001) for employer contributions to the plan in
fiscal 2019, while employees contributed $910,182 (2018 - $898,833) to the plan in fiscal 2019. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022.  

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the
fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued
assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to

individual employers participating in the plan. 

16 Related Party Transactions

Encana Event Centre

The Relationship

The City of Dawson Creek has related party transactions through a management agreement with Global Spectrum Facility
Management, LP (Global Spectrum).

In 2016 The City of Dawson Creek renewed the management agreement with Global Spectrum to manage and operate the
Encana Event Centre and common areas housed in the South Peace Community Multiplex located at #1 300 Highway 2 in
Dawson Creek.  Global Spectrum acts on behalf of and as an agent for the City.

The management services covered under this agreement include the following:

a) Management and operational services related to events
b) Responsibility for maintenance and operation of all HVAC, electrical and mechanical systems
c) Sale of commercial rights of the Complex
d) Ticketing system for the Complex
e) Food system services for the Complex
f) Exterior security services for the Complex
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16 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

The Relationship (Continued)

Management services not covered under this agreement (excluded services) are as follows:

a) Aquatic Centre operations
b) Agriplex Centre operations
c) Maintenance of parking lots and surrounding grounds

Term

The term of the agreement begins January 1, 2017 and ends December 31, 2027.

Compensation

In exchange for the management services provided by Global Spectrum, the City will pay a fixed management fee as follows:

2020 2019

$ 196,323 $ 192,474

Beginning with the second operating year, the fixed management fee shall be increased over the fixed management fee from
the previous operating year in accordance with the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index.

In addition, a qualitative management fee of up to 25% of the fixed management fee is payable each year based on meeting
certain qualitative factors. For 2019, this fee totaled $48,119 (2018 - $47,175).

In addition, an incentive fee equal to 20% on an improvement in a benchmark amount is payable to Global Spectrum.  The
benchmark amount shall be equal to a mutually agreed net bottom line number in the 2019 operating budget.  For 2019, the
benchmark was adjusted to $1,650,441 (2018 - $1,550,000) and the resulting incentive fee amount is $1,836 (2018 - $3,048).

The City of Dawson Creek as the owner of the facility is required to provide funding to the Global Spectrum through an
annual budget allocation.  All revenues and expenditures, profits and losses are the City's responsibility.  Budget allocations
for the Event Centre in 2019 and the next five years are as follows:

2019 $ 1,650,441

2020 1,650,000

2021 1,650,000

2022 1,650,000

2023 1,650,000

2024 1,650,000

Transactions

The assets and liabilities have been consolidated on a line by line basis in the statement of financial position and the revenues
and expenditures have been netted in the statement of financial activities.  These transactions were in the normal course of
operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by
the related parties.
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16 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Transactions (Continued)

At the end of the year, the amounts due to (from) Global Spectrum are as follows:

2019 2018

Opening Balance, due (from) to $ (69,910) $ (62,085)

Payments made 69,910 62,085

(Income) loss due (to) from the City of Dawson Creek (3,343) (12,193)

Expenses paid on behalf of the City of Dawson Creek (56,328) (57,717)

Closing balance due from GS (59,671) (69,910)

These amounts are non-interest bearing and have no set terms of repayment.

2019 2018

Assets

Cash $ 681,470 $ 1,041,065

Receivables - trade 651,554 424,941

Prepaid expenses and deposits 9,899 1,651

Deferred event expenses and deposits 42,480 29,699

1,385,403 1,497,356

Liabilities

Payables 827,882 698,632

Deposits 53,000 64,000

Deferred revenue 444,850 664,814

1,325,732 1,427,446

Due (from) to Global Spectrum $ (59,671) $ (69,910)

2019 2018

Revenue

Sales $ 4,652,022 $ 4,427,090

Cost of Sales (3,554,932) (3,247,472)

Gross profit 1,097,090 1,179,618

Interest 20,728 20,299

1,117,818 1,199,917

Expenses 2,764,916 2,737,724

Net loss before other items (1,647,098) (1,537,807)

Subsidy from City of Dawson Creek 1,650,441 1,550,000
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16 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Transactions (continued)

2019 2018

Income due (to) from the City of Dawson Creek $ (3,343) $ (12,193)

- -

Dawson Creek Tourism

The Relationship

The City of Dawson Creek has related party transactions through a management agreement with Global Spectrum Facility
Management, LP (Global Spectrum).

In 2017 The City of Dawson Creek entered into a management agreement with Global Spectrum to manage and operate
Dawson Creek Tourism.  Global Spectrum acts on behalf of and as an agent for the City.

The Management services covered under this agreement include the following:

a)  Operations and financial management

b)  Visitor Information Centre

c)  Special projects

d)  Sport tourism

Term

The term of the agreement begins January 1, 2018 and ends December 31, 2022.

Compensation

In exchange for the management services provided by Global Spectrum, the City will pay a fixed management fee as follows:

2020 2019

$ 26,010 $ 25,500

Beginning with the second operating year, the fixed management fee shall be increased over the fixed management fee from
the previous operating year in accordance with the percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index.  

In addition, an incentive fee equal to 20% of the improvement in a benchmark amount is payable to Global Spectrum
beginning in the 2018 budget year.  The benchmark amount shall be equal to a mutually agreed net bottom line number in
the 2019 operating budget.  For each subsequent year, the benchmark will be increased by 3%.  For 2019, the benchmark
was adjusted to $444,528 and the resulting incentive fee amount is $0 (2018 - $2,292).  
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16 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Compensation (Continued)

The City of Dawson Creek as the owner of the facility is required to provide funding to Global Spectrum through an annual
budget allocation.  All revenues and expenditures, profits and losses are the City's responsibility.  Budget allocations for
Dawson Creek Tourism in 2019 and the next three years are as follows:
2019 $444,528
2020 444,528
2021 444,528
2022 444,528

Transactions

The assets and liabilities have been consolidated on a line by line basis in the statement of financial position and the revenues
and expenditures have been netted in the statement of financial activities.  These transactions were in the normal course of
operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by
the related parties.

At the end of the year, the amount of Reserve in the City's general fund related to Tourism is as follows:

2019 2018

Opening balance        $ 205,927   $ 65,606
Net income        (142,496)  9,167
Transfer from prior contract provider        -   131,154

        $ 63,431   $ 205,927

These amounts are non-interest bearing and have no set terms of repayment.

2019 2018

Assets
          Cash        $ 377,503   $ 273,754
          Receivables - trade            119,394   14,323
          Inventory             18,323   9,435
          Prepaid expenses and deposits        15,152   15,641

        530,372   313,153

Liabilities
          Payables             466,941   107,226

       466,941   107,226

Partner's Capital
          Capital        $ 63,431   $ 205,927
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16 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Transactions (Continued)

2019 2018

Revenue
          Sales        $ 1,111,076   $ 179,622
          Cost of sales        (1,033,914)  (43,389)

Gross profit             77,162   136,233
Expenses        630,810   571,594

Net loss before other items        (553,648)  (435,361)
Subsidy from the City of Dawson Creek        444,528   444,528
Other Items        (33,376)  -

Net (loss) income        $ (142,496)  $ 9,167

17 Contingent Liabilities

Contingent liabilities represent items that, at December 31, 2019, are not recognized in the Statement of Financial Position
because there is significant uncertainty at that date as to the necessity of the entity to make payments in respect of them.
Following are details of the more significant of these contingent liabilities.

115th Avenue Construction Waste Dump Site

Usage of this dumpsite started in the 1960's as a dumpsite for construction waste. There was little or no control over the
types of substances being dumped at the site.  It wasn't until 1992 that the City took measures to ensure that only
uncontaminated wastes were to be deposited at this site.

At this time, the City is unable to determine if there is contaminated waste present at the site. In order to determine the
presence of contaminated waste, an environmental study would be required. Without this study, it is not currently possible
to estimate the cost  to remediate the site.

18 Funds Held in Trust

The Cemetery Care Fund is restricted by legislation as to the principal amount; interest earnings are available for ongoing
maintenance of cemetery grounds as required. These funds are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

2019 2018

Opening Balance $ 297,115 $ 292,745

Additions 5,191 4,370

Interest Earned 6,544 5,472

308,850 302,587

Transfer to Cemetery Operations (6,544) (5,472)

Closing Balance $ 302,306 $ 297,115
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19 Line of Credit

The City has a line of credit agreement with Scotiabank for $20,000,000.  There are no borrowings against the line of credit at
December 31, 2019 and 2018. The line of credit bears interest at 1.0% (2018 - 0.5% above) below the bank's prime lending
rate of 3.95% (2018 - 3.95%).

20 Commitments

Royal Canadian Mounted Police Services

The Province of British Columbia and the Federal Government have an agreement with the Royal Canadian Mounted Police to
provide police services for various municipalities in the Province. This agreement has a 20 year term expiring March 31, 2032.

21  Subsequent Events

Subsequent to year end a Global Pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization for the spread of COVID-19.
Management expects this global event may have a substantial and material impact on the operations of the City of Dawson
Creek.  The estimated financial impact of the event is unable to be estimated at the time of release of these financial
statements.

22 Segmented Information

The City has presented segmented financial information for services it provides to its citizens, which include Protective,
Transportation, Airport, Environmental Waste, Public Health & Welfare, Environmental Development, Recreation & Culture
and Water and Sewer services. For management reporting purposes, the City's operations and activities are organized and
reported by Service Area. Service Areas were created for the purpose of recording specific activities and related objectives in
accordance with legislated requirements.

General Government

This category of functions is used to report activities that provide for the overall operations of The City, which is common to,
or affect all of the services provided by The City, including Council and legislative, general administration and finance
expenses.

Protective Services

This category of functions is used to report activities that provide for the public safety of the residents and businesses of the
City, including police services provided by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, fire protection services, bylaw enforcement,
building inspection services, safety and animal control.

Transportation

This category of functions is used to report activities related to the delivery of municipal public works services related to the
planning, development and maintenance of the streets and roads, bridges, drainage systems, street lights, traffic lights and
signals, parking lots and on-street parking, and public transit as well as maintenance of workshops, yards and other buildings.

Airport

This function is used to report activities related to the Dawson Creek Airport, which is owned and operated by the City.

Environmental Waste

This function is used to report activities related to the collection of garbage and other waste material.
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22 Segmented Information (Continued)

Public Health and Welfare

This function is used to report activities related to the cemetery maintenance and operations.

Environmental Development

This function is used to report activities related to the preparation of land use plans, bylaws and policies for sustainable
development of the City and for reviewing and approving new land and building development.

Recreation and Cultural

This function is used to report activities related to providing recreational and cultural opportunities for the community.
Facilities managed within this area include parks, playgrounds, arenas, the Encana Events Centre, Dawson Creek Tourism, and
the Dawson Creek Public Library.

Water

This function reports on activities related to acquiring, supplying, treating and distributing water to the City. 

Sewer

This function reports on activities related to the removal, treatment and disposal of sanitary sewage. 
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22 Segmented Information (Continued)

General
Government Protective Transportation Airport

Environmental
Waste

Public Health
and Welfare

Environmental
Development

Recreation
and

Cultural Water Sewer
Reserve
Funds

Capital
Funds

2019
Total

2018
Total

Revenue
Net Municipal Property Tax $ 17,589,239 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 17,589,239 $ 16,797,212
Grant in Lieu 1,017,719 - - - - - - - - - - - 1,017,719 847,115
Sale of Service - 699,486 136,455 310,720 1,090,822 48,376 24,288 1,074,329 - - - - 3,384,476 3,410,134
Other Revenue 1,179,369 - 256 - - - 145,002 32,818 - - - 138,374 1,495,819 1,710,482
Government Transfer 15,732,040 438,479 956 - - - 348,821 590,525 140,511 - - 4,164,623 21,415,955 19,617,073
Return on Investments 283,091 - - - - - - - - - 19,622 502,544 805,257 592,498
Amortization of Deferred Capital

Contribution - - - - - - - - - - - 1,658,990 1,658,990 1,658,992
Land Sales - - - - - - - - - - 18,300 - 18,300 12,550
Utility Fees - - - - - - - - 5,667,778 4,049,299 - - 9,717,077 9,741,455
Gain (loss) on sale of tangible capital assets - - - - - - - - - - - 47,600 47,600 (8,137)
Actuarial Adjustment - - - - - - - - - - - 843,006 843,006 791,581

35,801,458 1,137,965 137,667 310,720 1,090,822 48,376 518,111 1,697,672 5,808,289 4,049,299 37,922 7,355,137 57,993,438 55,170,955

Expenses
Salaries, Wages & Employee Benefits 2,152,316 4,875,328 1,999,452 369,723 99,851 127,759 228,961 3,870,127 1,349,351 182,559 - - 15,255,427 15,597,088
Travel & Training 100,516 79,786 17,359 9,474 - - 4,850 25,038 34,824 - - - 271,847 388,029
Advertising 28,853 1,639 440 7,856 500 - 9,359 11,965 - - - - 60,612 95,151
Community Grants & Sponsorships - - 25,500 - - - - 174,391 - - - - 199,891 318,227
Consulting 19,539 21,828 85,344 - - - 272,194 175 139,194 135,616 - - 673,890 577,276
Contracted & General Services 854,352 3,334,206 1,682,376 293,861 1,019,200 12,760 596,940 2,021,013 259,300 174,735 - - 10,248,743 10,370,097
Material, Good & Supplies 177,314 173,425 331,125 295,309 12,493 18,957 23,944 438,780 541,914 58,483 - - 2,071,744 2,232,646
Repairs & Maintenance 20,362 122,205 39,899 72,078 - - - 191,964 640,106 317,427 - - 1,404,041 1,368,713
Equipment Pool Charge Out 35,623 12,588 473,676 147,045 23,875 31,228 11,013 277,603 156,831 71,437 - - 1,240,919 1,373,413
Telephone 40,607 11,221 11,506 16,019 - - 241 44,013 17,378 1,630 - - 142,615 143,352
Utilities 36,224 64,138 332,199 75,885 2,021 - - 736,361 330,650 221,094 - - 1,798,572 1,779,527
Insurance 178,930 26,135 28,153 47,084 - - 481 275,111 75,318 36,678 - - 667,890 586,444
Interest on Long Term Debt 82,295 - 909,368 - - - - - 373,439 222,772 - - 1,587,874 1,607,767
Audit & Legal 139,435 - - - - - - - - - - - 139,435 168,345
Amortization 386,385 265,509 2,557,035 166,933 - - 3,868 3,393,348 1,314,882 860,472 - - 8,948,432 8,555,847
Other operating expenses 58,838 8,508 4,495 4,649 - - 18,487 11,089 11,731 4,515 - - 122,312 311,234

4,311,589 8,996,516 8,497,927 1,505,916 1,157,940 190,704 1,170,338 11,470,978 5,244,918 2,287,418 - - 44,834,244 45,473,156

Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 31,489,869 $ (7,858,551) $ (8,360,260) $ (1,195,196) $ (67,118) $ (142,328) $ (652,227) $ (9,773,306) $ 563,371 $ 1,761,881 $ 37,922 $ 7,355,137 $ 13,159,194 $ 9,697,799

Per statement of operations and surplus totals
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